University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

2017

Racism Across The American South: The Association Between Racism On Twitter, Rurality, & Black Mortality

Jarrod Bullard University of South Carolina

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd Part of the <u>Health Services Administration Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Bullard, J.(2017). Racism Across The American South: The Association Between Racism On Twitter, Rurality, & Black Mortality. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/4372

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact dillarda@mailbox.sc.edu.



RACISM ACROSS THE AMERICAN SOUTH: THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN RACISM ON TWITTER, RURALITY, & BLACK MORTALITY

By

Jarrod Bullard

Bachelor of Science University of North Carolina at Pembroke, 2011

Master of Public Administration University of North Carolina at Pembroke, 2013

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Health Services Policy and Management

The Norman J. Arnold School of Public Health

University of South Carolina

2017

Accepted by:

Janice Probst, Major Professor

Nicole Hair, Committee Member

Jan Eberth, Committee Member

Lucy Ingram, Committee Member

Cheryl L. Addy, Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School



© Copyright by Jarrod Bullard, 2017 All Rights Reserved



DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this paper to my parents (Larry and Wanda Bullard) who have generously supported my academic and professional endeavors throughout my entire life. I am forever in debt to their love and support.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my dissertation chair, Dr. Janice Probst, for her unwavering support and dedication to my dissertation topic of interest. I am forever grateful for her effort towards the development of the project and her mentorship as a future health services researcher. I also wish to acknowledge the other members of the committee who have graciously donated their time and expertise throughout the development of this study. Lastly, I wish to acknowledge Dr. Matthew Zook at the University of Kentucky for sharing his data from his project for use in this dissertation. His generosity allowed for my idea to be brought into fruition.



www.manaraa.com

ABSTRACT

Racism can be understood as a system of dominance and power designed to uphold the racially privileged of society. One can be exposed to racism through various mechanisms including the Internet and social media. Evidence indicates that exposure to racism is associated with poor mental and physical health outcomes as well as unhealthy behaviors. Current literature studying the effects of racism focus primarily on experienced or perceived racism. Furthermore, the geographic influence of racism on health at the county level and across levels of rurality is currently unknown. The purpose of this study was twofold; 1.) To explore the geographic distribution of observed racism as across the US South and 2.) To determine the influence of rurality on the association between observed racism and black mortality in the US South.

Data for this study were retrospectively combined from a variety of sources. Allcause, age adjusted black mortality rates were derived from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiological Research (CDC WONDER). The independent variables of interest, racism and rurality, were obtained from Twitter and the 2015-2016 Area Health Resource File (AHRF), respectively. Socioeconomic and factors influencing access to care acted as controls in the study and were obtained from the AHRF at the county level. Income inequality ratios for each county were collected from the 2017 Robert Wood Johnson (RWJ) County Health Rankings. Variables measuring social capital were obtained from the publicly available Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development. Twitter data was provided by the



www.manaraa.com

v

Data on Local Life and You (DOLLY) project. Geotagged tweets at the county level were used as the measure of observed racism. A racist tweet was defined as one containing the racial slur "niggers". Rurality was defined according to the 2013 Rural-Urban-Continuum-Codes (RUCC). The sample population included 653 counties across seven southern US states; Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. Counties with no reported black mortality rate were excluded from analysis. Generalized linear modeling was used to test for association. Results were interpreted for significance at 95% confidence intervals ($p \le 0.05$).

Results indicate that rural areas experience lower odds of racist tweeting, in comparison to their urban counterparts. The odds of racist tweeting behavior decreases as a county's unemployment rate increases. The percent of voters in the 2012 Presidential Election was indirectly associated with racist tweeting behavior, suggesting a protective factor. Hotspots of racist tweeting can be observed in Mid-Georgia near Macon and among Columbia, South Carolina and surrounding counties. Observed racism was found to be significantly associated with black mortality. Counties with racist tweeting in the upper quartiles experienced significantly higher black mortality rates in comparison to counties in the lower quartile of racist tweeting. There was no significant interaction found between rurality and racist tweeting indicating that rurality does not influence the relationship between black mortality and racist tweeting. Rurality and socioeconomic factors like education, income inequality, and unemployment rates continue to be significant predictors of mortality. Furthermore, primary care physician (PCP) supply and hospital bed supply ratios are negatively associated with black mortality as results



www.manaraa.com

vi

indicate that the black mortality rate increases as the ratio of PCPs and hospital beds increase.

The findings in this study indicate that rural areas are less likely to experience observed racism, in comparison to their urban peers. There are significant hotspots of racist tweeting occurring mainly in parts of Georgia and South Carolina. Furthermore, when accounting for geographic influence across levels of rurality, higher rates of observed racism is significantly associated with increased black mortality rates. These findings also indicate that even in the presence of racial discrimination, socioeconomic factors still remain significant in predicting black mortality, contributing to health disparities. Future research should explore the relationship between observed racism and mortality as well as other indicators of health further.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv
ABSTRACTv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 BACKGROUND1
1.2 SIGNIFICANCE7
1.3 STUDY APPROACH10
1.4 PROPOSED RESEARCH QUESTIONS
1.5 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS14
CHAPTER 2: EXPLORING THE ASSOCIATION OF RACISM AND POOR HEALTH
2.1 RACE AS A SOCIAL CONSTRUCT16
2.2 DEFINING RACISM AND IT'S PERCEPTION17
2.3 THERORETICAL FRAMEWORKS ON RACISM
2.4 LITERATURE REVIEW
2.5 NEED FOR PROPOSED RESEARCH
CHAPTER 3: METHODS
3.1 WORKING CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK
3.2 STUDY DESIGN



3.3 DATA SOURCES	55
3.4 DATA VARIABLES	62
3.5 DATA ANALYSIS	65
CHAPTER 4: MANUSCRIPT 1 – GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF OBSERVED RACISM ON TWITTER IN THE AMERICAN SOUTH	68
4.1 ABSTRACT	68
4.2 INTRODUCTION	69
4.3 METHODS	73
4.4 RESULTS	76
4.5 DISCUSSION	83
4.6 CONCLUSION	87
CHAPTER 5: MANUSCRIPT 2 – OBSERVED RACISM ON TWITTER AND BLACK MORTALITY IN THE AMERICAN SOUTH: THE	101
	101
5.1 ABSTRACT	.101
5.2 INTRODUCTION	.103
5.3 METHODS	105
5.4 RESULTS	.109
5.5 DISCUSSION	.114
5.6 CONCLUSION	.119
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUDING REMARKS	.131
6.1 SUMMARY	.131



LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1 Study Sample Characteristics at County Level	
Table 4.2 Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and the Racist Tweeter Rate	89
Table 4.3 Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and Racist Tweet Intensity	90
Table 4.4 Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and the Racist Tweet Rate	91
Table 4.5 Model #1: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweeter Rate	92
Table 4.6 Model #2: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweet Intensity	93
Table 4.7 Model #3: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweet Rate	94
Table 5.1 County Level Characteristics of Study Sample	121
Table 5.2 Mean Racist Tweets and Tweeters Across Levels of Rurality	122
Table 5.3 Mean Black Mortality Rate Across Levels of Rurality	123
Table 5.4 Bivariate Analysis of Relationship between Rurality and Predictors of Mortality	124
Table 5.5 Model #1: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweeter Rate, Rurality, and Black Mortality	125
Table 5.6 Model #2: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweet Intensity, Rurality, and Black Mortality	126
Table 5.7 Model #3: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweet Rate, Rurality and Black Mortality	127



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1 Working Conceptual Framework
Figure 4.1 Racist Tweeter Rate Across Counties95
Figure 4.2 Racist Tweet Intensity Across Counties96
Figure 4.3 Racist Tweet Rate Across Counties97
Figure 4.4 Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweeter Rate98
Figure 4.5 Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweet Intensity
Figure 4.6 Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweet Rate100
Figure 5.1 County Racist Tweeter Rate Across Levels of Rurality
Figure 5.2 County Racist Tweet Intensity Across Levels of Rurality
Figure 5.3 County Racist Tweet Rate Across Levels of Rurality



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Webster¹ defines discrimination as "The practice of unfairly treating a person or group of people differently from other people or groups of people." Discrimination against an individual or a group of people can be based on many factors including gender, sexuality, religion, age, disability, or race. The latter factor, race, seems to be the most prevalent form of discrimination currently throughout society.

1.1 BACKGROUND

America is currently facing an unsettling time in history as African Americans and other groups of minorities fight for social and environmental justice, equality, and peace. The Black Lives Matter movement fueled after numerous violent deaths of African Americans. The movement began quietly as a hashtag (#BlackLivesMatter) on Twitter in 2013 following the acquittal of George Zimmerman for the murder in Florida of seventeen-year old Trayvon Martin.² Police brutality in Ferguson, Missouri in 2014 crystallized the movement making it a national campaign. Activists consider the #BlackLivesMatter movement "a love note" to black communities serving as a shorthand for diverse organizing efforts across the country against police aggression and racist violence. A second more recent and trending national movement against discrimination is the No Dakota Access Pipeline (DAPL). The movement was assigned the #NoDAPL to organize protesting efforts on Twitter. Native Americans in North Dakota are protesting against the construction of the DAPL which is engineered to run 1,100 miles crossing the



www.manaraa.com

Missouri River about half-a-mile from the Standing Rock Sioux Reservation.³ The DAPL is projected to bring oil from Canada and the Northwest to Chicago. Construction of the DAPL could result in a potential spill of oil into the Missouri River, a primary water supply for the Sioux Reservation.³ Discrimination abounds amongst this issue since the planned construction site crosses sacred burial grounds and the original site was changed after white citizens in Bismarck spoke out against the threat of oil spills.³ The #NoDAPL movement also touches on the concept of environmental justice. Bullard⁴ defines environmental justice as the principle that all people and communities are entitled to equal protection of environmental and public health laws and regulations. Brulle and Pellow⁵ highlight that there is a "class pattern" and "race pattern" that influences the unequal distribution of environmental risk. Due to racial residential segregation, minorities are highly concentrated in communities that are significantly more disadvantaged than communities that are highly white concentrated.⁵ Governments and corporations "seek out the path of least resistance" when determining where to locate polluting facilities. Decided upon locations tend to be in areas with high minority concentrations due to their social isolation and relatively low political power.

Native Americans, African Americans and other minorities alike have dealt with discrimination such as the latter throughout the course of history. Discrimination is deeply rooted in American history In the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries during American colonialization, Native Americans were forced to submit to European colonizers experiencing warfare, disease, loss of territory, and loss of game for food and clothing.⁶ This hardship not only produced physical hardships for Native Americans, but also destroyed their cultural identity and mechanisms of sociocultural reproduction. The



www.manaraa.com

U.S. government participated in the discrimination of Native Americans by displacing tribes and relocating them using military power.⁶ Native Americans underwent cultural genocide as they were forced to surrender their religious freedom and refrain cultural practices passed down generations.⁶ African American populations in America were also exposed to discrimination. Slavery in the American colonies grew from the arrival of twenty enslaved Africans in Virginia in 1619 to a multitude of enslaved African American families who were forced into labor by the time of the outbreak of the American Revolution in 1776.⁷ Colonial America was mostly agricultural depending on the land for survival and newfound wealth with the use of cash crops such as sugar, coffee, tobacco, rice and cotton.⁷ Slavery permeated throughout the American colonies and was considered as a central component of social order.⁷ The discrimination of African Americans by forcing them into slavery led to the prevalence of a racist society by way of racial stereotyping. In the 18th and 19th centuries during widespread practice of slavery, prominent Whites regarded black people as mentally inferior to their White counterparts.⁸ Whites also stereotyped blacks as physically and culturally unevolved and apelike in appearance.⁸ Racial stereotyping became an ideology crossing generations. Plous and Williams⁸ carried out a study concerned with quantifying the existence of black racial stereotypes centuries after slavery was abolished. Their findings indicated that most respondents to their survey (58.9%) endorsed at least one stereotypical difference in inborn ability.⁸ Whites were approximately 10 times more likely than blacks to be seen as superior in artistic ability and abstract thinking.⁸ Furthermore, almost half (49%) of all respondents assigned at least one stereotypical physical difference between blacks and Whites including: thickness of skin and cranium and sensitivity to physical



www.manaraa.com

pain and childbirth pain.⁸ Racial stereotypes were also the subject of scientific and medical opinion in the 18th and 19th centuries. Scientists at the time argued that in the struggle for survival the "Negro" in America was doomed. Social Darwinists analyzed census data to predict the extinction of the black race in America in the 20th century due to a degenerative evolutionary process.⁹ Physicians of the 18th and 19th century held similar beliefs arguing that freedom had caused the mental, moral, and physical deterioration of the black population.⁹ Physicians claimed that cranial structures, wide nasal apertures, receding chins and projecting jaws, all typed the black as the lowest species in the Darwinian hierarchy.⁹

Native American genocide and slavery are not the only points in American history giving rise to racial discrimination. The U.S. government also took part in activities that subjected minorities to discrimination. The Tuskegee study was issued by the U.S. Public Health Service (USPHS) in 1932 to determine the natural course of untreated, latent syphilis in black males.⁹ The study population was comprised of 400 syphilitic men, as well as 200 uninfected men serving as controls in Macon County, Alabama. The experiment continued for decades. When penicillin became widely available in the early 1950s as the preferred treatment for syphilis, the infected men in the study did not receive therapy.⁹ On many occasions, the USPHS took actions to prevent the men from receiving treatment.⁹ In 1972 when the study first appeared in the national press, the Department of Health, Education, and Welfare halted the experiment.⁹ At the time the study was stopped, 74 of the test subjects were living and at least 28, but more likely more than 100 had died directly from advanced syphilitic lesions.⁹ The Tuskegee study was ruled "ethically unjustified" stating that penicillin should have been provided to the test



subjects.⁹ The study went on to serve as an example of unethical research. Furthermore, residential segregation became a driving factor for the development of American policies to maintain segregated neighborhoods. The Great Migration from 1915 to 1930 resulted in an influx of 1.5 to 2 million African Americans moving to urban areas in the North from the South. Cities like Chicago, New York, and Detroit saw their African American population rates multiply three to five times.¹⁰ The exponential growth of African Americans in cities resulted in city government issuing zoning, deed restriction, and racially restrictive covenants to impose and increase racial residential segregation.¹⁰ The mainstream opinion among real estate agents, appraisers, brokers, and mortgage bankers was that increase of African Americans in White neighborhoods would decrease property values and contribute to neighborhood deterioration.¹⁰ In the event to uphold residential segregation and "whiteness" in neighborhoods, real estate boards established racially restrictive neighborhoods. For example, the St. Louis Real Estate Board in 1923 approved a policy which prohibited real estate agents from selling or renting property in White areas to African Americans.¹⁰ By 1924, Milwaukee, Detroit, Kansas City, Los Angeles, and other cities followed suit.¹⁰ With the passing of the Federal Housing Act (FHA) in 1934, policies upholding residential segregation surpassed local markets as the act included similar racially driven disadvantages. Mortgage insurance and lending policies, appraisal guidelines and home building subsidies, which stimulated high-andmoderate-cost housing, of the FHA was racially restrictive.¹⁰ African Americans were excluded from participation in the federal government's mortgage system. This practice led to the lucrative and expansive White suburban neighborhoods of the 1950s.¹⁰ Underwriting Manuals of the FHA considered African Americans as "adverse influences"



www.manaraa.com

on property values and warned against the "infiltration of inharmonious racial or nationality groups" in racially homogenous neighborhoods.¹⁰ Residential segregation gave way to racial health disparities among minority populations including: high rates of poverty, dependency, crime, poor academic performance among students, and all-cause mortality.^{11,12}

Ample evidence suggests that stress is associated with poor physical health and poor mental health outcomes, including: hypertension, coronary heart disease incidence, depression, smoking, alcohol consumption, obesity, consumption of high fatty foods, and less physical exercise.^{13–16} Racial and other forms of discrimination can act as a stressor influencing biological markers of stress (vagus nerve functioning, cognitive schema, allostatic load) thereby impacting health and contributing to racial disparities in health.^{17,18} Current evidence highlights that exposure to racism is associated with poor mental health, obesity, unhealthy behaviors, and unmet healthcare needs.^{19–26}

Most studies on racism are concerned with measuring the associated health effects of perceived racism on health, without any indications of geographical differences in the effects of racism. A few more recent studies, however, applied geospatial techniques to map out the most potentially racially biased places in America by analyzing a popular social media platform (Facebook, Twitter, etc.) and a widely used online search engine (Google, Yahoo, Bing, etc.). Humboldt State University researchers determined that the eastern and southern parts of America tend to be the most prone to racially biased expression in the country.²⁷ The study examined the frequency and quantity of "tweets" containing racist words and their use in a derogatory manner across the Twitter social broadcasting network. The states with the most observed racism included: Maryland,



www.manaraa.com

Virginia, District of Columbia, North Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and parts of Tennessee and Mississippi.²⁷ Similarly, a study conducted by Stephens-Davidowitz²⁸ concluded that the most racist places in America are rural areas in the Northeast and South. Stephens-Davidowitz used Google search terms for the "nigger" and geocoded the searches to determine the most racist places in America based on searches involving the racist word. Even though everyone that searches for the "nigger" are not all racist, aggregating the searches over several years and several million searches, can provide an accurate estimation of where racial attitudes are particularly the strongest.²⁸

1.2 SIGNIFICANCE

Current studies are lacking the explicit investigation of effects of exposure to racial discrimination and racism across geographical areas and identifying where the effects of racism are the strongest. The studies above both indicated the presence of strong racial attitudes in the American South. Considering the differing social environments between geographical locations, the prevalence and effects of racism can be expected to be different. For example, since organized slavery was a common practice in the Old South, this primitive ideology might result in high rates of racism in the modern day South as well.²⁹

Furthermore, racism across rurality is not well understood and documented. Rurality continues to be a significant indicator of health. Rural areas rank poorly on population health indicators, including health behaviors, mortality, morbidity, and child health measures.^{30–32} Compared to residents at other levels of urbanization, rural residents experience higher death rates from unintentional injuries, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and suicide.³³ The most urban and most rural areas share similar concerns



www.manaraa.com

including infant mortality rates and lack of health insurance.³³ In their study, Auchincloss and Hadden³⁴ find that the health disadvantages of rural areas can be partly explained by differences in population composition. The residual rural disadvantage was concentrated in rural populations with less than a high school education.³⁴ Tract poverty and county per capita income across rural counties are also significant predictors of morbidity.³⁴ Additionally, rural residents smoke more, exercise less, have less nutritious diets, and are more likely to be obese than their suburban and some urban counterparts.^{30–32} Rural residents within all regions (Northeast, Midwest, South, and West) of the nation fare worse than their counterparts.³⁰ Rural southern residents experience higher rates of poverty, adult smoking prevalence, physical inactivity, death due to ischemic heart disease, and births to adolescents.³⁰ Western rural residents experience higher rates of alcohol abuse and suicide.³⁰ Mental disorders seem to equal out across urban and rural areas, but rural residents with mental illnesses are less likely to define themselves as needing care and to report three or more recent mental disorders, most likely due to stigma surrounding mental illness.^{35–37} Furthermore, rural residents are more likely to suffer from unmet mental health needs.³⁸ When it comes to racial segregation between with respect to rurality, levels and trends in recent patterns of racial segregation in America's small towns are remarkably similar to patterns observed in larger metropolitan cities.³⁹ Like their big city counterparts, nonmetropolitan blacks are America's most highly segregated racial minority; Approximately 30% to 40% higher than that observed for Hispanics and Native Americans.³⁹ Lichter and associates conclude that racial residential segregation in rural places increases with growing minority percentage shares and is lower in "new" places (as measured by growth in the housing stock), while racially



www.manaraa.com

select annexation and the implied "racial threat" accounting for the exacerbating racial segregation in rural areas.³⁹

Much like rural areas, urban areas also suffer from disadvantages. Urban area disadvantages were brought on by historical activities and political aspirations. Using Los Angeles as a case study, Pulido⁴⁰ explains that urban areas and urban residents suffer from exposure to environmental racism; The idea that nonwhites are disproportionately exposed to pollution. This idea of environmental racism was brought upon urban populations by way of suburbanization, in which whites secured relatively cleaner environments by moving away from older, inner city industrial areas.⁴⁰ Pulido refers to these patterns of suburbanization and decentralization as instances of white privilege further propelled by political efforts. Federal policies such as Titles I and VI of the Federal Housing Act (FHA) of 1934, sought to increase the housing supply, but did so in a very overt racist way.⁴⁰ The Home Owners Loan Corporations (HOLC) and the FHA developed measures to protect small homeowners from foreclosure by issuing federal mortgage insurance.⁴⁰ In doing so, neighborhoods were categorized from "A" to "D.⁴⁰" Affluent suburbs strung out along curvilinear streets well away from the city were categorized into the "A" group. On the other end of the spectrum, non-white neighborhoods consisting of blacks, latinos, and asians were considered "C" and "D" neighborhoods. Working class white communities were categorized as "B" neighborhoods. This type of practice had a huge impact on the wellbeing of urban and minority populations. Roughly, less than two percent (2%) of housing financed with federal mortgage insurance was made available to blacks.⁴⁰ Furthermore, in 1955, the ratio between single-family and multifamily starts was more than nine-to-one in Los



Angeles.⁴⁰ Multifamily units were excluded from the new suburbs which meant greater crowding in the barrio and ghetto areas of Los Angeles.⁴⁰ Inner city areas received less financial resources as money was channeled into suburbia.⁴⁰ These practices left urban populations striving to survive with less resources and opportunities and lower quality of life. Inner-city and urban living is characterized with poor air quality, poor drinking water quality, lack of provision of sanitation and fire services, the availability and affordability of medical care, and high crime and violence rates.⁴¹ This leads to poor health outcomes among the urban population including: high prevalence of asthma among inner city youth and emergency department utilization for asthma related services, asthma morbidity among inner city children, and mental health complications related to problems with alcohol, life stress, and social support.^{42,43}

1.3 STUDY APPROACH

Due to the differing environmental, social, and structural nature of rural and urban populations brought on by way of historical perspectives and evolution as well as political efforts, it is plausible that these areas experience different racial related attitudes. Therefore, it can be expected that their associated effects to perceived racism and racial attitudes might be different as well. This study is concerned with measuring county level effects of observed racism and racial attitudes and its relationship with black mortality. This study is also concerned with exploring and mapping the geographic distribution of observed racism. Racial disparities in mortality have been long documented.⁴⁴ Although the overall mortality rates for minorities have declined over time for several causes of death (cancer, diabetes, suicide, cirrhosis of the liver, homicide), racial disparities in allcause mortality continue to widen.⁴⁴ A recent study conducted by Chae et al.⁴⁵ found that



area racism was significantly associated with all-cause black mortality. Chae et al. utilized Google searches containing the "nigger" in 196 designated Nielsen media market areas as the measurement of area racism.⁴⁵ There are a total of 210 designated market areas (DMAs) as defined by Nielsen Media Research as geographic areas receiving common television broadcasts or radio programming as well as newspapers and Internet advertising.⁴⁵ Another study by Hatzenbuehler and associates⁴⁶ investigated whether structural stigma (living in communities with high levels of anti-gay prejudice) increases the risk of premature mortality for sexual minorities. Social stigmas were measured as the average level of anti-gay prejudice at the community level. Their findings indicated that sexual minorities living in communities with high levels of anti-gay prejudice experienced a higher hazard of mortality than those living in low-prejudice communities (Hazard Ratio [HR], 3.03).⁴⁶ Sexual minorities living in high prejudice communities experienced a shorter life expectancy of approximately 12 years.⁴⁶ These conclusions highlight the significance of studying area level prejudice and the effectiveness of utilizing an internet search based proxy measurement of racism to predict outcomes, such as all-cause mortality. It is pertinent to estimate the association between racism and mortality by accounting for geographical characteristics and demographics as evidence suggests that the intensity of prejudice and discrimination at an area level is associated with life expectancy and livelihood of impacted populations.

When studying the effects of racism, it is important to account for a number of potential confounding variables. Socioeconomic status (SES) is a potential confounding variable to account for when studying racism because it is unknown if it exerts a mediating, moderating, or additive effect on the relationship of racism and mortality.⁴⁷



For example, poverty is accompanied by its own sets of stressors, e.g. overcrowding, which can independently affect the risk for negative health outcomes like hypertension and subsequent chronic health conditions and mortality. Stressors associated with poverty may combine with racism related stressors, e.g. interpersonal maltreatment, resulting in an overwhelming demand for coping which can influence the uptake of unhealthy behaviors and coping mechanisms.⁴⁷ Due to the close interaction between racism and poverty, SES could mediate the relationship between racism and health.⁴⁷ Brondolo and colleagues explain that racism may block economic access partly accounting for the fact that racial and ethnic minorities are disproportionately represented among low SES populations.⁴⁷ Krieger and associates⁴⁸ recommend accounting for SES indicators (income, poverty, education, deprivation) when studying racism related health effects in order to account for socioeconomic position and fluctuation in economic resources among geographic areas that are available to an individual. Another measure of area level SES, income inequality (distribution of income within a population) should be controlled for when studying mortality. In his review, Smith⁴⁹ encourages the assessment of income inequality as a potential covariate when studying mortality due to their strong correlation. Smith argues that income inequality goes hand in hand with underinvestment in human resources allowing for populations whose social and biological assets have been undermined which will generate poor health outcomes in the future.⁴⁹

Furthermore Williams⁴⁴ suggests accounting for unemployment when studying the geographical effects of racism. Segregated and impoverished areas are challenged with adversities that can combine with the stressors of racism exerting an additive and/or interactive effect to SES and racism. Lack of access to jobs results in high rates of



unemployment.⁴⁴ Lastly, access to medical care is another mechanism by which racial discrimination can affect health and should be accounted for when studying health effects of racism. Racial inferiority persists with the realm of healthcare affecting the way minorities are treated when seeking care.⁴⁴ Evidence indicates that after adjusting for SES, health insurance, and clinical status, whites are more likely than blacks to receive a broad range of specific medical procedures.⁴⁴ When studying the effects of racism, it is important to account for access to care across geographical regions by controlling for health insurance status since having insurance is a proxy for seeking and receiving care.

1.4 PROPOSED RESEARCH QUESTIONS

The proposed study will help to identify the association and relationship between areas exhibiting strong racial attitudes and racism and county level mortality rates for minority groups. The proposed study will address two specific research questions, as follows:

- What is the geographic distribution of observed racism across the US South?
- Is there an association between observed racism and Black mortality in the US South and does rurality influence the relationship?

Data for this project will be derived from four retrospective datasets. The first is data collected from the Digital Online Life and You (DOLLY) Project at the University of Kentucky.⁵⁰ The DOLLY Project is a repository that has collected billions of geotagged tweets (approximately 8 million a day) since its initiation in December 2011. Most recent data (2015-2016) collected by the DOLLY Project will be used for the study.



The second dataset is the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiologic Research (CDC WONDER). CDC WONDER is a webbased application that manages public-use data for U.S. births, deaths, cancer diagnoses, Tuberculosis (TB) cases, vaccinations, environmental exposures, and population estimates. The third dataset is the publicly available most recent (2015-2016) Area Health Resources Files (AHRF) maintained by the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA)⁵¹. The fourth dataset is publicly available measures of social capital to be obtained from the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development.⁵² The fifth and final dataset is the publicly available 2017 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) County Health Rankings. The geocoded data examining the use of racial slurs in "tweets" on the Twitter social networking platform (provided by the DOLLY Project) will be assessed at the county level and will be used as the measure of observed racism. County level all-cause, age-adjusted mortality rates will be derived from the CDC WONDER online application. County level estimates including, primary care provider supply, hospital bed supply, health insurance, education, and unemployment will be extracted from the AHRF and will be controlled for in the analysis. An additional control variable, income inequality, will be obtained from the 2017 RWJF County Health Rankings.

1.5 STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

The proposed study will incorporate many strengths in comparison to current literature. First, the proposed study is concerned with ascertaining a relationship between observed racism (measured using racist tweet rates) and black mortality at the county level. This study will also hope to identify if the effect of observed racism on black



mortality is influenced or affected by rurality. Secondly, the study will build on current literature by applying a health services approach by controlling for access to care and utilization. Third, the study will utilize a more novel method using the number of racist tweets containing a racial slur at the county level as a proxy for observed racism.

There are a few limitations to the study which need to be discussed. First, the study is unable to determine causality between county level exposure to racism and black mortality due to applying a cross sectional analysis. Secondly, the study cannot determine the level of perceived racism due to the design and utilizing racist tweets as a proxy for county level racism. Third, the study is only applying a single measure of racism in lieu of an aggregate measure. The study will analyze the number of racist tweets using one trigger word in instead of applying a semantic analysis looking at a combination of words, phrases, and/or sentences. Lastly, the study will be unable to ascertain the effects of exposure to online racism to Twitter on stressful and/or responses. Future studies will need to focus on quantifying stressful responses induced by exposure to online racism or racial discrimination.



CHAPTER 2

EXPLORING THE ASSOCIATION OF RACISM AND POOR HEALTH

To quantify the association between racism and poor heath and subsequent mortality, the conceptualization of racism and the theories explaining the potential pathways linking racism to poor health must be understood. This chapter is concerned with exploring how race and racism is defined as it pertains to the study. Theories posited to explain the pathways by which racism affects health and the embodiment of racism as stressor will also be discussed. Furthermore, current evidence identifying and explaining the association of racism and health (stress, mental health, individual behavior, and health outcomes) will be reviewed to warrant the significance of studying racism as an indicator of health.

2.1 RACE AS A SOCIAL CONSTRUCT

Race can be best understood as a social construct. Counterintuitively, race is not a biological inheritance. Instead race is a social concept. All blacks or whites do not possess a single gene or cluster of genes nor marked by differences in gene frequencies or the rates of appearance of certain gene types.⁵³ Greater genetic variation exists within populations than between populations.⁵³ Not only is race assigned based on physical characteristics such as stature, skin color, hair texture, and facial structure, but also specific social relations and historical context.⁵³ The social assignment of race generates racial hierarchies. White is seen as a pure category. Any other race is non-pure making



one "nonwhite."⁵⁴ Socially assigned race morphs into racial ideologies or what Omi and Winant term as "racial etiquette," meaning a set of interpretative codes and racial meanings which operate in the interactions of daily life.⁵⁴ These codes or rules are shaped by individual perceptions of race in a racially mixed society and influence self-presentation, distinction of status, and appropriate modes of conduct.⁵⁴ Omi and Winant go on to explain that "racial etiquette" doesn't develop into adherence to the dominant groups rules, but as an aggregation of these rules with values and beliefs of subordinated groups.⁵⁴ Therefore, race becomes "common sense," a way of comprehending, explaining, and acting in the world.⁵⁴ Racial beliefs exist to explain the differing actions and behaviors between racial groups. This social order crosses generations and characterizes individuals essentially assigning them a way of life.

Omi and Winant explain that when the first enslaved Africans arrived in the Americas, they were not categorized slaves overnight. Due to skin color, they were labeled as blacks. This is termed racialization. Racialization is defined as the extension of racial meaning to a previously racially unclassified relationship, social practice or group.⁵⁴ Similarly, Whites went through racialization. First arriving as European settlers followed by Christian, English, Free, and lastly white, in chronological order.⁵⁴ Therefore, race is a socially assigned variable with no biological roots. The social order of race is not taught, but innate occurring naturally helping to shape ones perception and behavior.

2.2 DEFINING RACISM AND ITS PERCEPTION

When conceptualizing racism, it is important to note that it is not only concerned with interpersonal relationships, attitudes, distorted ideologies, and unfair treatment. The



differential of power is a major contributor to the conceptualization of racism. A more relevant and accurate definition of racism is given by Harrell⁵⁵ in which he recognizes racism as "a system of dominance, power, and privilege." Harrell goes on to explain that this system is designed to uphold the racially privileged and to exclude the unprivileged from "power, esteem, status, and/or equal access to social resources.⁵⁵" The latter definition of racism takes into account the historical context that has allowed racism to flourish throughout society indicating a system dedicated to assigning power and privilege to dominant members of society while keeping others in their place on the social ladder.

Power also plays a role in how one perceives, interprets, and embodies racism. Schmitt and Branscombe⁵⁶ explain that due to the interpersonal nature of prejudice and racism, the state of intergroup relationships is vital to understand how one interprets or perceives a comment/action from another as discriminatory. The relevance of an action to prejudice or racism is a function of each involved individual's relative position of power within the social structure.⁵⁶ Ones interpretation of perceived racism or prejudice is different for each individual. Accounting for this difference depends on whether the person on the receiving end self-identifies with a group that is disadvantaged relative to other racial groups, or to a group that is relatively privileged.⁵⁶ Schmitt and Branscombe explain that both disadvantaged and privileged groups can experience discrimination.⁵⁶ However, the side effects and ramifications are quite different for each. Members of disadvantaged groups experience more harmful psychological consequences when exposed to perceived racism or prejudice.



2.3 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORKS ON RACISM

Racial discrimination can occur throughout many domains including: the labor market, the educational system, the justice system and in healthcare and most recently online and on social media, among others. However, no matter where an individual is exposed to racism, the potential effects on health and wellbeing are great. There are many theoretical frameworks or models dedicated to explaining the relationships between racism or racial discrimination and its implications on health.

2.3.1 KRIEGER THEORY OF RACIAL DISCRIMINATION & HEALTH

According to Krieger⁵⁷, racial discrimination can be conceptualized as a determinant of population health. Krieger posits a framework for understanding and measuring racial discrimination suggesting four dimensions, namely, legal or illegal; institutional; structural, interpersonal; direct or indirect; overt or covert. Acts of discrimination can take place at multiple levels including: individual, institutional, residential neighborhood, political jurisdiction, and regional economy. Understanding one's cumulative exposure to discrimination considers the timing of discriminatory action throughout one's life-course (conception; infancy; childhood; adolescence; adulthood), intensity (severity) of the discrimination, frequency (acute; chronic), and duration (how long the discriminatory action lasts). The embodiment of discrimination occurs across various pathways involving exposure, susceptibility and responses to the discrimination. The first pathway is economic and social deprivation which can unfold in the home, in the neighborhood, and in other socioeconomic regions. The second pathway is toxic substances and hazardous conditions (pertaining to physical, chemical, and biological agents) which can also take place in varying socioeconomic domains. The third pathway



of embodiment is socially inflicted trauma (mental, physical, or sexual, ranging from verbal to violent), also occurring throughout various domains. The fourth pathway is targeted marketing of legal and illegal psychoactive and other substances (alcohol, smoking, other drugs, junk food). The fifth and final pathway of embodiment is inadequate health care, by health care facilities and providers including: access to care, diagnosis, and treatment. There are two major responses to discrimination; protective and harmful. Protective response to discrimination is the practice of active resistance to the practice of discrimination by individuals or communities. Acts of active resistance involves organized movements, legal action, social networks, and social support. A harmful response to discrimination is suppressing the acts of discrimination resulting in internalized oppression and denial and the use of psychoactive substances, both legal and illegal. Krieger's theory of discrimination and health explains that discrimination can occur at multiple levels within society through various pathways, evoking both protective and harmful responses. This theory can be used to assess the impact and effects of discrimination on health from either a population or individual level.

Furthermore, Nancy Krieger points out that there are three main epidemiologic approaches to studying the health effects of discrimination.⁵⁷ The first approach is indirect, at the individual level. This approach is purposed in examining whether known risk factors explain the differences in health outcomes between advantaged and disadvantaged groups. The indirect approach to measuring the effects of discrimination relies heavily on observation such as observed differences in treatment and observed differences in health outcomes. The second approach is direct, at the individual level. This approach of study is done among the disadvantaged group purposed in examining



whether experiences of discrimination are associated with health outcome(s). The direct approach relies on self-report of perceived discrimination from the individual. The third approach is institutional, at the population level. The institutional approach is also carried out among the disadvantaged group in order to examine whether group level measures of discrimination are associated with health outcomes at the population rate.

2.3.2 JONES' LEVELS OF RACISM

Jones⁵⁸ posits yet another framework explaining the multiple levels of racism and their aggregate effects on individual wellbeing. Racism can be understood on 3 levels: institutionalized, personally mediated, and internalized. Institutionalized racism is defined as "...differential access to the goods, services, and opportunities of society by race.⁵⁸" Racism is embedded within institutions (schools, political environments, workplaces, etc.) throughout society.^{58,59} Institutional racism subsequently affects individuals' access to quality education, housing, and healthcare facilities; employment opportunities; and clean residential environments.⁵⁹ Additionally, institutionalized racism results in access to power in the form of access to information, resources (wealth and social networks), and voice (voting rights, government representation, and control of the media).⁵⁹ Personally-mediated racism is defined as "...prejudice and discrimination, where prejudice means differential assumptions about the abilities, motives, and intentions of others according to their race, and discrimination means differential actions towards others according to their race.⁵⁸" Personall- mediated racism is the most commonly thought of level whenever one hears the word "racism." Personally-mediated racism can be either intentional or unintentional. This level of racism is a result of a lack of respect, suspicion, devaluation, scapegoating, and dehumanization.⁵⁸ Internalized



racism is defined as, "...acceptance by members of the stigmatized races of negative messages about their own abilities and intrinsic worth.⁵⁸" At this level of racism, those on the receiving end begin to accept and conform to society's stigmatization by relinquishing their hopes and dreams and giving into societal limitations. Internalized racism manifests itself into people of color engaging in activities to blend into society, an activity referred to as "whiteness.⁵⁸" Internalized racism also develops into selfdevaluation, resignation, helplessness, and hopelessness.⁵⁸

Jones⁵⁸ goes on to further explain the aggregation of these levels of racism using a story about gardening where a gardener prefers red flowers to pink ones and plants them in different soil types; red ones in fertile soil and pink ones in rocky soil. Institutionalized racism is conceptualized as the gardener's preference of red flowers over pink. This preference blinds the gardener from recognizing the implications of the two types of soils used to plant the flowers.⁵⁸ The soils are kept separate and the difference between the two is never addressed. The red flowers continue to flourish while even the strongest pink one's face difficulty to reach half the size and beauty of the red flowers. Personallymediated racism in the tale is represented by the gardener proclaiming that the red flowers are indeed better due to the pink ones never reaching the magnitude and beauty of the red ones. Personally mediated racism also occurs when the gardener, in dismay of the pink flowers growth, plucks the pedals off a budding pink flower further impeding its growth or removing a pink flower seed from the red flower soil when the wind carries it there.⁵⁸ Internalized racism occurs in the tale when the pink flowers insist to the bees that they want pollen from the red flowers instead of pink flower pollen. The pink flowers have internalized the belief that the red flowers are better because of their beauty.⁵⁸ Jones



suggests that in her story, the gardener is a metaphorical representation of the government. When the government is not concerned with equity, in the case of the differing soils in the tale, the two types of flowers are not afforded with equal opportunity to grow and mature into equal, yet differing flowers of beauty and strength. Jones framework sheds light on the historical nature of institutional racism and its ramifications on individual nature, behavior, and wellbeing.

A more realistic example of institutionalized racism can be observed in the changes to the state of Delaware's death penalty statute in 1991.⁶⁰ Following a highprofile case that was heavily covered by the media involving four African American defendants and two White victims, Delaware changed their law regarding the death penalty. Since the law change, annual sentences to death have quadrupled in Delaware.⁶⁰ Regarding racial effects of the law change, cases involving black defendants and white victims are sentenced to death twice as often as other cases. In comparison to other states in the country (10.1%), the death sentencing rate of cases involving black defendants and white victims is twice as high in Delaware.⁶⁰ This example goes to show that institutional racism occurs at the government level and can result in unintended significant implications for minorities and other racial groups. This kind of effect signifies what Jones was describing in her gardener's tale. The government made a blinded decision from the basis of one case. Delaware state government relinquished the notion that this specific case involving white victims attracted heavy media coverage, ignoring cases involving black victims. This type of racism leads to personally mediated racism in the event that Delaware changed their death penalty statues believing that the white victims of this case required justice, completely ignoring black victims. Furthermore, this statute



can manifest into internalized racism in the event that the black community responds to the event feeling helpless and falling deeper into racial stigmatizations regarding criminal activity.

2.3.3 WILLIAMS AND MOHAMMED RACISM & HEALTH

Williams and Mohammed⁶¹ posit another framework outlining the various pathways by which racism affects individual health. The basic causes include biology and geographic origins, societal institutions (political, legal, economic, cultural), and racism (institutional and cultural). These basic causes coupled with an individual's social status and demographic characteristics (SES, race, gender, age, marital status, etc.) are linked to individual health through a series of intervening mechanisms. Institutional and cultural racism affect health by introducing stigma, stereotypes, prejudice and racial discrimination.⁶¹ The latter aspects of racism develop into differential access and opportunities afforded to individuals based on SES and other demographic characteristics.⁶¹ One important proximal pathway by which racism affects health in Williams and Mohammed's framework is stress (racial discrimination, threat of stress, physical/chemical exposures, historical trauma, and macro racial stressors). Additional proximal pathways include access to societal resources (medical care, housing, and neighborhood/community) and knowledge.⁶¹ Lastly, an individual's response ultimately influences the effect on one's health. These responses to racism range from behavioral patterns and psychological and physiological responses to collective and individual resilience, ultimately influencing morbidity, mortality, disability and positive health.⁶¹ Williams and Mohammed's framework is an important one that takes into account the many macro levels of racism described by Jones and Krieger and interprets their


influence on individual social status and subsequent response to racism and individual health.

2.3.4 BONILLA-SILVA THEORY OF SOCIALLY CONSTRUCTED RACISM

Additional theories evaluate the effects of structural, neighborhood/residential and social media/online related racism on individual wellbeing and health. Bonilla-Silva⁶² indicates that race is a social construct, meaning that race is socially assigned to an individual based on phenotypic characteristics. This social assignment of race results in racialization, subsequently developing into a structural hierarchical system producing social relations between races.⁶² Races placed in the superior position of the hierarchy reap greater economic rewards including, better occupations and prospects in the labor market, higher social estimation (socially viewed as "smarter" or "better looking"), and are afforded the opportunity to initiate physical and social boundaries between themselves and other races lower on the hierarchy.⁶² Additionally, as a result of racialization, the races develop collective objective interests. Collective interests are based on the struggles within each race to either transform or maintain a particular order within the hierarchy.⁶² Evaluating the effects of racism through the lens of structural racism or racialization, results in the ability to account for all racial manifestations by tracing all racial phenomena (cultural, political, economic, social) to the racialization of that particular society.⁶² The theory of racialization interprets changes in the hierarchy based on collective racial struggles. Lastly, racialization accounts for the occurrence, transformation, and disappearance of racial stereotypes. This type of structural effect of racism can be better understood as social relationships between racial groups. These



social interactions interplayed within racial groups result in differing behaviors and interests which can manifest in different outcomes across races.

2.3.5 POWELL'S STRUCTURAL RACISM THEORY

Racism also occurs within the context of neighborhoods and residential areas. John A. Powell⁶³ builds upon the systems theory in order to develop a structural racism framework. This structural racism framework is different from the one described earlier as Bonilla-Silva's focused on the social hierarchy existing between races. Powell's structural framework takes a more economical/societal approach to understanding the basis and subsequent effects of racism. The systems theory is a model that interprets causation as a result of relationships and processes.⁶³ Powell describes his structural perspective of racism as cumulative causation within and across domains as a product of reciprocal and mutual interactions within and between institutions.⁶³ This goes beyond individual relationships to understand practices and procedures leading to racial dispositions. Powell argues that racial outcomes are a result of the cumulative effects of disadvantage over time.⁶³ An example suggested by Powell indicates that housing discrimination results in high rates of black and hispanic children and youth attending schools located in high poverty areas. Children who attend these schools are at a disadvantage since they are more likely to drop out of school and less likely to attend college, as opposed to their peers in more affluent schools.⁶³ As a result, their options in the labor market are greatly reduced and so are their chances of achieving secure health and retirement benefits. Understanding the structural cumulative effects in this way can shine light on why so many African Americans and Hispanics live at or below the federal poverty line and their relationship to quality housing and education. Residential



segregation and racial isolation have major implications on overall health and wellbeing. Largely white affluent neighborhoods usually include high-performing schools, new grocery stores with fresh produce, better employment opportunities, quality childcare, modern healthcare facilities, and improved social cohesion with better opportunities for networking and civic engagement.⁶³ On the flipside, largely poor neighborhoods are challenged with racially segregated areas of concentrated poverty and high crime environments.⁶³ These areas also employ under-resourced schools, grocery stores with low-quality foods, and inadequate access to quality healthcare and employment opportunities. Powell argues that racial residential segregation was a result of the federal subsidies which initiated suburban housing and transportation.⁶³ These subsidies made it easy for middle-class, white families to leave cities and move to suburban areas. Minorities were somewhat forced to stay behind due to housing policies that prohibited integrated neighborhoods through lending restrictions and other racially restrictive policies.⁶³ The labor market and tax revenue followed the whites to these suburban areas, leaving behind minorities in cities challenged with poverty and inadequate access to healthcare, employment, and education. These cumulative effects result in poor health and wellbeing which even translates across generations since children who grow up in these environments tend to stay in them.

2.3.6 THEORETICAL PERSPECTIVES OF ONLINE RACISM

A theory explaining the system of racism which is somewhat new to the field of public health is the implications of social media and other online modalities. There are many platforms of social media that are widely used. The most popular platforms include: Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, Snapchat, and LinkedIn. In addition, there are



other media related outlets such as blogs and channels, where individuals can comment and reply on various topics. The Glitch Racism theory⁶⁴ suggests that anonymity provides a cover for online racism across gaming and media-related channels which increases the desire for individuals to engage in online racism when given the chance. The development of the Internet and social media outlets has created a new domain in which racism proliferates. Individuals are allotted the right to "freedom of speech." This right has been neglected to the point of engaging in hate speech (hateful, abusive, and racist related speech) on social media outlets online.⁶⁵ Individuals participate in the use of slurs (set of words, terms, or nicknames). Slurs can be used in a non-offensive and non-abusive manner or they can be used in a derogatory, insulting manner.⁶⁵ When used in the latter manner, they are directed at specific groups within society. The use of racial slurs has opened doors to the use of hate speech targeted towards certain racial groups. This theory is particularly relevant to the topic. Since data containing racial derogatory comments and "hate speech" related tweets will be used as an indicator of racial attitudes for this study, this theory explains the underlying nature and environment that enables for racism to exist within social media and other "online" settings.

2.3.7 BIOPSYCHOLOGICAL THEORY OF RACISM

As some of the theories above suggest, stress tends to be a potential pathway linking experiences with racism to individual health and wellbeing. Understanding the perception of racism as a stressor and its associated implications might point to the casual interpretation of racism and poor health. Clark and colleagues⁶⁶ posit a model explaining the biopsychosocial effects of perceived racism. The model suggests that the perception of an environmental stimulus as racist results in a series of psychological and



physiological responses. These responses are influenced by constitutional factors, sociodemographic factors, psychological factors and behavioral factors, and coping mechanisms. In their model, environmental stimuli refer to a myriad of things which can include: substandard housing, lack of skilled labor and managerial jobs, and lower wages for African Americans or other ethnic groups. Once an individual perceives exposure to an environmental stimulus as being racist, it kicks of a series of responses, sort of like a domino effect. However, due to the fact that these responses are highly sensitive to an individual's own perception of stressfulness in lieu of objective demands, there is no way to ascertain if a certain environmental stimulus will be perceived as racist by an individual.⁶⁶

The variables used in their model are categorized into moderating and mediating variables. The moderating variables are constitutional factors, sociodemographic factors, and psychological and behavioral factors. Clark and colleagues suggest that constitutional factors such as, skin tone and family history of hypertension might influence the relationship between exposure to environmental stimuli and health outcomes.⁶⁶ Furthermore, these constitutional factors may interact with sociodemographic characteristics in increasing or decreasing the risk of negative health outcomes. Occupational status, income, and educational level are suggested by Clark et al. as being moderating SES factors influencing responses to racism related stress.⁶⁶ African Americans and other ethnic groups report a greater frequency of exposure to more stressors like racism and other unfair treatment, in comparison to their Caucasian counterparts.⁶⁶ As a result, African Americans and other ethnic groups must utilize coping mechanisms on a more frequent basis to deal with stressors. Clark et al. suggest



that the utilization of these coping mechanisms will differ within ethnic groups, highlighting that lower SES African Americans might have fewer resources to cope with racism related stressors.⁶⁶ Psychological and behavioral factors might also influence how individuals perceive and respond to environmental stimuli. For example, Type A behavior, cynical hostility, neuroticism, self-esteem, obsessive-compulsive disorder, hardiness, perceived control, and ager expression-suppression are all psychological and behavioral factors which can influence the stress process and associated health outcomes like cardiovascular disease, and immune functioning.⁶⁶ Clark et al. hypothesize that these behaviors influence the relationship between perceived racism and health status.

The mediator variables in the model include racism as a perceived stressor, coping responses, psychological and physiological stress responses, and health outcomes.⁶⁶ Clark et al. define perceived racism as the subjective experience of prejudice or discrimination.⁶⁶ Ones perception of an environmental stimulus as racist or some other factor as a stressor evokes coping responses. On the other hand, no perception of racism or other stressor does not lend itself to any necessary psychological or physiological stress responses. Clark et al. identify two categories of coping responses; maladaptive and adaptive.⁶⁶ Maladaptive coping responses are those that do not attenuate stress. Adaptive coping responses are those that attenuate stress by mitigating enduring psychological and physiological stress responses. The latter responses include anger, paranoia, anxiety, helplessness, hopelessness, frustration, resentment, and fear.⁶⁶ These psychological stress responses can also lead to the subsequent use of additional unhealthy coping mechanisms such as anger suppression, hostility, aggression, verbal expression of anger, and the use of alcohol or other substances to blunt these feelings.⁶⁶ These responses have an impact



on individual health and wellbeing as it is directly associated with health outcomes such as low birth weight, infant mortality, breast cancer survival, heart disease, mean arterial blood pressure changes, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.⁶⁶

2.3.8 MECHANISMS EXPLAINING BLACK-WHITE HEALTH DISPARITY

Green and Darity⁶⁷ explore the mechanisms that give rise to black and white health disparities using theories from the biological and social sciences. Allostatic load attempts to bridge the gap between the physiological, biological, and social sciences.⁶⁷ Allostatic load is a useful way to measure the "wear and tear" on a person's body over time that results from repeated exposures to discrimination or other stressful experiences.⁶⁷ The original allostatic load index consisted of ten biological parameters that were markers of physiological activity across various bodily systems (cardiovascular, metabolic, hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, and sympathetic nervous).⁶⁷ The index contained ten physiological markers, including: systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, waist-to-hip ratio, ratio of total to high density lipoprotein cholesterol, highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol, glycosylated hemoglobin, cortisol, norepinephrine, epinephrine, and dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate.⁶⁷ Green and Darity document studies showing black children and adults have higher allostatic load indices, in comparison to whites, even after controlling for education and impoverished conditions.⁶⁷ However, there are challenges related to conceptualizing allostatic load in research due to issues of measurement, whether the measures used capture the underlying biological processes or are outcomes associated with physiological breakdown, and aggregation across multiple measures of system dysregulation may cause researchers to overlook one or two systems that are mostly associated with outcomes and interactive effects.⁶⁷



Green and Darity also explore the historical and cultural perspective of race on poor health. In the case of African Americans, posttraumatic slave syndrome or posttraumatic slavery disorder hypothesis posit that the experience of the Middle Passage and American slavery produced a collective trauma that has transmitted across generations of black individuals.⁶⁷ It is also believed that collective dysfunction might explain the tendency of African Americans to engage in self-defeating behaviors subsequently contributing to adverse health outcomes.⁶⁷ Although Green and Darity do not refute the notion of posttraumatic slave syndrome, they mention several difficulties applying this approach to studies. First, it does not clarify how daily indignities and discrimination affect psychological well-being above and beyond the memory of slavery.⁶⁷ Secondly, groups subjected to collective trauma are not all experiencing adverse health outcomes.⁶⁷ Lastly and arguably most importantly, this approach lacks predictive power and is near impossible to derive independent parameter estimates of the pure effect of trauma.⁶⁷

2.4 LITERATURE REVIEW

Literature examining the impact of experienced racism and discrimination on health is ample. The search returned a variety of literature explaining the association of racism and stress, mental health, health behaviors, and health outcomes. A literature search was conducted using public health related databases including PubMed, PubMed Central (PMC), and Google Scholar. Keywords and search terms used in the literature search included: discrimination, racism, racial discrimination, perceived discrimination, racism and heath, racism and mental health, and racism and health outcomes. The results of the search will be discussed here.



2.4.1 RACISM AS A STRESSOR

The most straightforward case which explains how racism is conducive to poor health, is that it makes the lives of the disadvantages members of society much more stressful which results in negative health outcomes.⁶⁸ However, much more of the literature goes into greater detail explaining the physiological response of exposure to racism as it relates to stress.

2.4.1.1 STRESS & THE VAGUS NERVE

Those concerned with the physiological human adaptations to stressful live events study the vagus nerve, which is part of the parasympathetic branch of the autonomic nervous system.⁶⁸ The vagus nerve has different divisions dedicated to initiating responses depending on the environment. Neural circuitry from the frontal cortical regions is connected with vagal circuits in the brain stem allowing for the flexible facilitation of cardiac adaptation to the changing environment.⁶⁸ Increased vagal activation slows down the heart and vice versa.⁶⁸ These changes take place on a secondby-second basis making adjustments as deemed necessary depending on the environmental demands.⁶⁸ Thayer and Lane⁶⁹ studied the role of vagal function on the risk for the onset of cardiovascular disease and subsequent mortality. Indicators of vagal function included resting heart rate, heart rate recovery, heart rate variability, and baroreflex sensitivity. They conclude that decreased vagal function is associated with an increased risk for morbidity and mortality, independent of traditional, more commonly known risk factors for cardiovascular disease. The frontal lobes, containing brain centers which are responsible for some of the most complex human cognitive functions, house neural pathways that mediate the calming influences of the vagus on the heart.⁶⁸



Cognitive processing failures occurring in the frontal lobes interferes with vagal functioning and can be detrimental to health.⁶⁸ Brosschot and associates⁷⁰ explain that perseverative cognition (worry and rumination) is a common and frequent response to stress and can moderate the health consequences of stressors as it can prolong stress-related affective and physiological activation, both in advance of and following stressors. Their review of the literature indicates that worry, rumination, and anticipatory stress are all associated with enhanced cardiovascular, endocrinological, immunological, and neurovisceral activity.⁷⁰ Furthermore, the chronic threats and aversive events from racism can interrupt the calming impact of the vagus nerve on cardiac functions by inducing worry and rumination.⁶⁸

2.4.1.2 INFLUENCE OF STRESS ON COGNITIVE SCHEMA

Exposure to racism can also interrupt individual cognitive structures influencing one's cognitive schema. Racism can be interpreted as unpleasant memories threatening the cognitive schemata of an individual by mentally dispositioning themselves as worthless, hopeless, unproductive members of society.^{58,68} Exposure to racism blocks their positive emotions which can impact their health.⁶⁸ Fredrickson⁷¹ developed the broaden-and-build theory positing that experiences of positive emotions broaden people's momentary thought-action repertoires, which in turn serves to build their enduring personal resources, ranging from physical and intellectual resources to social and psychological resources. Fredrickson argues that positive emotions build psychological resiliency and trigger upward spirals toward improved emotional well-being by broadening the scopes of attention and cognition, enabling flexible and creative thinking.⁷¹ However, when positive emptions are revoked into negative emotions, the



upward spiral reverts into a downward transition characterized by depressed moods and narrow minded pessimistic thinking leading to clinical levels of depression.⁷¹

2.4.1.3 STRESS AND EMOTION REGULATION

Another pathway by which racism can be embodied as a stressor is through emotion regulation.⁶⁸ As posited in the theoretical frameworks above in the preceding section, one's response to racism can have a significant impact on health and wellbeing. Emotion regulation refers to the ability to increase, maintain, or inhibit the expression and experience of an emotional response.⁶⁸ The suppression of one's emotional response occurs when an emotion is denied admission into consciousness. In a study examining the associations between blood pressure and self-reported experiences of racial discrimination and responses to unfair treatment by Krieger and Sidney⁷², results indicated that among working-class black adults reporting that they typically accepted unfair treatment and had experienced racial discrimination in none of seven situations, was about 7mm Hg higher than those reporting that they challenged unfair treatment and experienced racial discrimination in one or two situations.⁷² This type of trend was also relevant among professional black adults. The latter suggests that suppressing emotions related to racism is a systematic stressor that can lead to the onset of hypertension. On the other hand, actively challenging racism can have a more positive outlook on health.

2.4.1.4 STRESS & ALLOSTATIC LOAD

The tendency of exposure to racism existing as a stressor can be linked to the onset of disease by way of allostatic load. McEwen⁷³ refers to the long-term effect of the physiologic response to stress as allostatic load, which is the wear and tear that results from chronic overactivity or underactivity of allostatic systems. Allostasis is the ability to



achieve stability through change.⁷³ By way of allostasis, the autonomic nervous system, the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, and the cardiovascular, metabolic, and immune systems protect the body by responding to internal and external stress.⁷³ McEwen explains that varying situations can arise which are associated with allostatic load; The first and most obvious being frequent stress.⁷³ A surge in blood pressure can trigger myocardial infarction in susceptible individuals and repeated elevations of blood pressure over periods of weeks and months accelerating atherosclerosis, a pertinent risk factor of myocardial infarction.⁷³ Many of the theoretical frameworks discussed above point out that racism is a serious threat to health when it occurs throughout one's life course (especially at time sensitive periods such as childhood and adolescence) on a cumulative and frequent basis. Beatty and Matthews⁷⁴ carried out a study to determine if ambulatory blood pressure (ABP) at night relative to day among adolescents is influenced by unfair treatment and trait anger, and whether these associations are stronger in African American and adolescents from lower SES families and neighborhoods. Their results indicated that higher trait anger was associated with higher night/day DBP ratio.74 Additionally, reports of unfair treatment was associated with a higher night/day DBP ratio among African Americans.⁷⁴ Furthermore, among those residing in lower SES neighborhoods, reports of greater unfair treatment also predicted a higher night/day DBP ratio.⁷⁴ Beatty and Matthews conclude that trait anger and unfair treatment in adolescent African Americans results in elevated night/day ABP ratios.⁷⁴ As this occurs over time, this might warrant allostatic load leading to an early onset of hypertension.

The literature discussed here indicates that exposure to racism and racial discrimination among minorities acts as a stressor (by way of varying mechanisms)



influencing biological pathways within the body. These biological responses evoke a physiological response, in turn affecting health and wellbeing. In addition to explaining the embodiment of racism as stress, there is ample literature suggesting other various associations of racism and health which will be discussed next.

2.4.2 RACISM AND MENTAL HEALTH OUTCOMES

Current literature reports significant associations between self-reported racism or discrimination and mental health. Kwate and Goodman²³ investigated the impact of racism on the mental health outcomes among African Americans at cross-sectional time points and longitudinally, over the course of 1 year in the black Living Inequality, Feelings, and the Environment (LIFE) study. Lifetime and chronic experiences with racism and unfair treatment was measured using the Experiences of Discrimination Scale and the Daily Life Experiences (DLE) subscale of the Racism and Life Experiences Scales, respectively. At the 1-year follow up, racism was not found to be associated with psychological distress; However, it was associated with poor mental health days. Each unit increase on the DLE scale was associated with an additional 2.93 days in poor mental health and each unit increase in the everyday discrimination scale with 3.70 additional days in poor mental health.²³ Longitudinal analysis showed significant associations between health outcomes and both measures of racism. Each unit increase in everyday discrimination over the 1-year time period produced an increase of 1.3 for distress.²³ Additionally, in estimating the longitudinal effects of racism on poor mental health, each unit increase in the everyday discrimination scale and the DLE scale resulted in an increase of 3.2 and 2.2 additional days of poor mental health, respectively.²³ Kwate and Goodman imply that individuals who denied thinking about their race fared worse in



these outcomes.²³ Individuals who "actively processed" the reality of race mitigated the significant implications of poor mental health.²³

Similarly, a systematic review and meta-analysis conducted by Paradies et al.²⁴ indicated a positive association between racism and poor mental health, including depression, anxiety, and psychological stress. Racism was also associated with poorer general health and physical health.²⁴ The authors suggest that a stronger association between racism and mental health outcomes could be explained by the biological mechanisms by which racism affects health. Exposure to racism over time can lead to the dysregulation of cognitive-affective regions including the prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, amygdala, and thalamus.²⁴ All of these are potential pathways into developing poor mental health outcomes such as anxiety, depression, and psychosis.²⁴ The effect size of negative mental health associations was larger among cross-sectional data analysis. The effect-size over longitudinal data (defined as more than one year between exposure and outcome) resulted in weaker associations.²⁴ Paradies et al. suggests this could be due to individuals becoming "hardened" to racism over time, accepting it as a societal norm.²⁴ Ethnicity significantly moderated the effect of racism on negative mental health.²⁴ The association between racism and negative mental health was stronger for Asian American and Latino(a) Americans when compared to African Americans.²⁴ This finding might suggest that African Americans are more resilient or perhaps better equipped to withstand racism, in comparison to their Asian American and Latino counterparts.²⁴

In investigating the relationship between racial discrimination, psychological distress, and self-rated health among US-born and immigrant black Americans, Krieger



and colleagues⁷⁵ determined that both US-born and foreign-born black Americans undergo high levels of racial discrimination (76% and 60%, respectively) and selfreported high levels of severe psychological distress (14% and 16%, respectively). The Kessler 6 (K6) scale was used to measure psychological distress among survey respondents. After controlling for covariates, risk of racial discrimination (high vs. no exposure) was 4.0 and 3.3, respectively; corresponding odds ratios (OR) for severe psychological distress were 6.9 and 6.8.75 In an additional study, Cuevas and associates⁷⁶ found that greater perceived discrimination among church going African Americans was associated with greater perceived stress and more depressive symptoms. A one standard deviation increase in perceived discrimination was associated with a decrease of .035 and .046 in self-rated health indirectly through perceived stress and depressive symptoms, respectively.⁷⁶ Their findings indicate that even among church going African Americans, experiences with discrimination results in poor self-rated health due to greater stress and depressive symptoms. This finding is surprising since being an active member within a church has its many benefits including improved social and spiritual support as well as social cohesion within communities.⁷⁶ Similar effects of racial discrimination were observed among a sample of college students. Dinh and colleagues⁷⁷ found that college students who self-reported experiences of racism were more likely to report depression and a poorer general health status. The authors indicate that racism in the context of intergroup anxiety (e.g., "I feel threatened when interacting with racial/ethnic minorities.") in lieu of perceived threats of racism (e.g., "Racial/ethnic minorities have more economic power than they deserve in this country.") appears to have a more profound effect on negative health outcomes.⁷⁷



2.4.3 RACISM AND BEHAVIOR

In addition to poor mental health outcomes, current literature also provided ample evidence suggesting that the occurrence of perceived discrimination potentially resulted in individuals engaging in unhealthy behaviors. Hurd and associates⁷⁸ found that among a sample of black teens and young adults (aged 15 – 30), accounts of perceived discrimination was significantly associated with anxiety symptoms, depressive symptoms, and alcohol use. The authors indicate that this transitional period into adulthood is a sensitive time within one's life course suggesting experiences that take place during this time can have significant implications on one's life course trajectory.⁷⁸ Emerging adults might be more susceptible to negative outcomes such as psychological distress and alcohol use when experiencing heightened stressful experiences much like perceived racial discrimination. Additionally, denied educational or employment opportunities and housing discrimination can result in decreased earning potential and increased risk of poverty across the life course.⁷⁸ These cumulative effects trigger stressful responses which can manifest into negative health outcomes.

Purnell et al.²⁵ found that regardless of race or ethnicity, perceived discrimination within a healthcare setting was associated with increased odds of current smoking among a sample of respondents to the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) Survey. In comparison to individuals who reported receiving similar treatment as those of other races, those who reported being treated worse than people of other races in healthcare settings were more likely to be current smokers (OR 1.18).²⁵ Similarly, those who reported worse treatment in the workplace were also more likely to smoke (OR 1.13).²⁵ Purnell and colleagues posit that individuals who report perceived discrimination



might engage in negative health behaviors such as smoking to cope with the psychological distress.²⁵ When breaking down current smoking into subcategories, individuals who perceived worse treatment in healthcare settings were more likely to be everyday smokers.²⁵ This indicates an association between perceived discrimination, the setting in which discrimination is perceived, and the frequency of engaging in unhealthy behavior such as smoking.²⁵

Todorova, Falcon and Lincoln⁷⁹ report that among a group of Puerto Ricans in the United States, perceived discrimination was significantly associated with a higher probability of ever having smoked (OR 1.32).⁷⁹ In addition, perceived discrimination was also associated with a higher probability of ever been a drinker (OR 1.43).⁷⁹ Similar to Purnell et al.'s rationale, Todorova and associates suggest that discrimination may be leading to increased drinking and smoking as a means of coping.^{25,79} However, it is also suggested that participation in these behaviors might be an indication of more active social involvement which subsequently increases ones risk of exposure to perceived discrimination.⁷⁹ Among a cohort of adults participating in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis, Borrell et al.²⁶ found that blacks who reported experiences of racial discrimination were 34% more likely to be current smokers and 51% more likely to report being drinkers.²⁶ Among Hispanic study participants, those who reported experiencing racial/ethnic discrimination were 62% more likely to report as being heavy drinkers.²⁶ Tobler and associates⁸⁰ found similar effects of perceived racial/ethnic discrimination on unhealthy and violent behavior among a group of minority urban youth. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination was significantly associated with physical aggression, delinquency, victimization, depression, suicidal ideation, and risky sexual



behavior.⁸⁰ Both studies (Borrell et al. and Tobler et al.) indicate that participation in these behaviors can be interpreted as coping mechanisms due to increased stress related to racial discrimination.

The studies discussed above indicate stress as a potential link in the chain which might account for the association between perceived racism and engagement in negative and risky health behaviors. Additionally, the exposure to stress due to perceived racial discrimination holds significant implications on one's life course trajectory especially during critical phases of human development such as childhood and adolescence. Exposure to the chronic and/or acute stress as a result of perceived racial discrimination and how one copes with it will ultimately influence ones behavior and overall health and wellbeing. Therefore, one's frequency and intensity of exposure to stress by way of racial discrimination might be the key to understanding the causality between racism and poor health.

2.4.4 RACISM AND HEALTH OUTCOMES

Beyond mental health effects and unhealthy behavior, racial discrimination also holds great implications on one's overall health status and health outcome. A systematic review by Williams and Mohammed⁶¹ found sufficient evidence highlighting significant associations between experiences of discrimination and psychosocial stressors related to an array of health outcomes and health risky behaviors including, coronary artery calcification, elevated blood pressure, low birth weight delivery, cognitive impairment, subjective and objective indicators of poor sleep, visceral fat, and even mortality. Using the results of the 2002 North Carolina BRFSS survey, Gizlice and Ngui⁸¹ found that the rate of diabetes was significantly higher among individuals who reported being treated



worse than people of other races when seeking health care, 14.5% vs. 7.3%. Additionally, obesity prevalence was greater among those who reported having physical or emotional symptoms due to treatment based on race (37.6%) and also among those who reported experiences worse than other races when seeking health care (36.3%), compared to 23.2% and 24.8%, respectively.⁸¹ Respondents who reported perceived racial discrimination while seeking health care services were also more likely to be diagnosed with arthritis (OR 3.04).⁸¹ Similar to studies above, Williams and Mohammed and Gizlice and Ngui link negative health outcomes to racial discrimination by way of exposure to stress. Ones exposure to racism and racial stereotypes are considered to be chronic stressors that have a "weathering down" effect on an individual's health over time; thereby increasing their chances of developing chronic conditions. Additionally, continued exposure to stressors and multiple attempts to cope with it might also impact the integrity of one's immune system and its resilience to illness.⁸¹

Negative racial related experiences while seeking healthcare as described in studies above results in unmet healthcare needs and individuals not receiving adequate healthcare attention. In a study consisting of four races/ethnicities (White, African American, Mexican, and Puerto Rican), Benjamins and Whitman⁸² found that experiences with racial discrimination was associated with an increased likelihood of having unmet health care needs (OR 2.48) and lower odds of perceiving excellent quality of care (OR 0.43). In studying the effect of perceived race consciousness (the frequency with which one thinks about his or her own race) within the patient-physician relationship, Brewer and associates⁸³ report that race-conscious blacks experienced significantly higher diastolic (79.4 vs 74.5mm Hg) and systolic (138.8 vs. 134.7mm Hg)



blood pressure than blacks who were not race-conscious. Crawford, Jones and Richardson⁸⁴ conducted a study purposed in examining the impact of reactions to race-based treatment on being up-to-date with colorectal cancer screening among non-hispanic whites, non-hispanic blacks, and hispanic adults. Study findings indicated that Hispanics who always thought about their race were less likely to be screened for colorectal cancer (OR 0.71) compared to those who never thought about their race.⁸⁴ Also, when compared to their White counterparts, Hispanics who always thought about their race were less likely to use their race were less likely to receive a screening (OR 0.27).⁸⁴ Similarly, Hausmann, Jeong and Bost⁸⁵ examined the relationship between perceived discrimination and preventative health care utilization using the 2004 BRFSS survey results and found that discrimination was associated with less utilization of mammogram, pap test, PSA test, blood stool test, and sigmoidoscopy/colonoscopy (ORs 0.53-0.73).

There are many mechanisms by which the above associations might be explained; one being avoiding healthcare systems and the utilization of healthcare services which can result in poor health outcomes due to sub-optimal care.⁸⁵ Another mechanism might be how often one thinks about their race. Ethnic groups who are aware of their social and cultural differences might be less willing to participate in preventative or healthcare related services.⁸³ Seeking care from healthcare providers who are not cultural competent according to the racial/ethnic demographics of their patient population, may influence an individual's perception of administered treatment and care (intentional or unintentional) which can result in individuals "doctor hopping" or avoiding the utilization of healthcare services altogether. Benjamins and Whitman suggest that decreased trust in healthcare providers or the healthcare system might be a plausible reason.⁸² Furthermore,



individuals of lower socioeconomic status might face more discrimination and those facing financial difficulties might also be important factors as to why individuals with perceived experiences with racism might suffer from unmet healthcare needs.⁸²

2.4.5 CHARACTERISTICS OF TWITTER AND ITS USERS

Twitter was launched as an online social media website in 2006. Since then its popularity and use has morphed into a cultural phenomenon allowing people to post (tweet) information in real time and to follow updates posted by others. As of 2013, Twitter has over 200 million active users generating over 400 million tweets per day.⁸⁶ Twitter is available in 33 different languages. Initially serving as a means of online communication between people, it has morphed into an arena for political debates, media gossip, entertainment news, and business ordeals. Some of the real-time spikes in Twitter activity occurred from people tweeting and sharing information related to the death of pop star Michael Jackson in 2009 and the royal marriage of Prince William and Kate Middleton in 2011.⁸⁶ A photo of former President Barack Obama and first lady Michelle posted immediately after his re-election as the President of the United States in 2012, became the most retweeted message in Twitter history.⁸⁶ Twitter has also become a place to share personal experiences and the aftermath of disasters like the historic flooding in Columbia, South Carolina in 2015 or the effects of Hurricane Matthew in 2016.

The demographics of Twitter users vary. According to a study by Smith and Brenner,⁸⁷ as of 2012 African Americans, young adults, and urban and suburban residents have the highest rates of Twitter usage relative to their peers. More than one quarter of online African Americans (28%) use Twitter, with 13% doing so on a typical day.⁸⁷ Roughly one quarter (26%) of internet users aged 18 – 29 use Twitter.⁸⁷ This is double



the rate for middle aged adults (30-49).⁸⁷ Comparing Twitter usage across geographical locations, urbanites and suburbanites are more likely to use Twitter than their rural counterparts.⁸⁷ Smith and Brenner did not find any significant variations in Twitter usage across education and income levels. More recent studies published by the Pew Research Center show that the demographics of Twitter users are changing as more and more people sign up for a Twitter account.⁸⁸ Compared to 2013, Twitter has seen significant increases among men (24% vs. 17%), whites (21% vs 16%), those aged 65 and older (10% vs 5%), and urbanites (25% vs 18%).⁸⁸ The prevalence of Twitter use is increasing among rural areas as well (17% vs. 11%), but not at a significant pace.⁸⁸ However, the most recent report published by the Pew Research center shows that Twitter usage continues to grow across geographic locations. The prevalence of Twitter usage in urban, suburban, and rural areas in 2016 was 26%, 24%, and 24%, respectively.⁸⁹

Twitter users have the option to enable location services on their Twitter account. Twitter doesn't enable the location service by default. A user must manually enable Twitter to use location services on their device. Once enabled users can geotag their tweets with precise location data presented in the form of latitude and longitude. A study by Sloan and Morgan⁹⁰ indicates that approximately 60 percent (58.6%) of Twitter users do not have location services enabled while 41.6% of users do. Excluding retweets, 96.9% tweets are not geotagged while 3.1% are.⁹⁰ In comparing genders, males are slightly more likely than females (increase of 0.1%) to geotag their tweets.⁹⁰ The mean age between geotaggers and non-geotaggers is slightly higher, 21.58 vs. 20.76, respectively.⁹⁰ Wood-Doughty and associates⁹¹ found similar characteristics in their study, but an additional finding that enabling geotagging was similar between white



(28.2%) and black (31.0%) Twitter users. Furthermore, the study found that the percentage of white and black users with at least one geotagged tweet was 6.1 and 6.8, respectively.⁹¹ These findings indicate that the demographics of Twitter were relatively skewed towards young, black, urbanites. However, more recent reports on the demographics of Twitter show that these are changing as more and more whites, older adults, and rural residents are using Twitter.

As indicated above, the use of Twitter has outgrown its initial reason of inception. Just like its penetration into mainstream media, Twitter has recently become a breeding ground for hate speech and discrimination. A study conducted by the Think Tank Demos⁹² in September of 2015 recorded an astonishing 6.7 million racial slurs on Twitter over a period of two weeks. The term "nigga" tends to be the most "tweeted" racial slur across the Twitter platform, followed by "white boy" and "nigger".⁹² During this time, the researchers recorded about 10,000 racist tweets per day, but that has now increased to 484,139 per day, largely due to the use of the word "nigga."⁹² These researchers explain that in some cases, these words are uses to offend others, but they are also used by groups to describe themselves by using words that were once used to insult them. Across the influx of tweets containing the racial slurs, the researchers suggest that the "nigga" word is used quite differently from its more primitive form "nigger" as a friendly means of communication between black people while the more traditional spelling of the word is used in a more racist way on Twitter.⁹²

On the flipside of things, Twitter has also allowed for a more positive approach to dealing with racism. After the killing of Trayvon Martin in 2012, the #BlackLivesMatter movement started as a protest against police violence of African Americans. The



movement quickly spread across black communities throughout the nation and onto college campuses thanks to social media, like Twitter. Olteanu and associates⁹³ characterized the demographics behind the #BlackLivesMatter movement finding that most users only post a few tweets with the (hashtag) #BlackLivesMatter (62% users with only one tweet).⁹³ Across all users, young adults (aged 18 - 29) resulted in the most posts with the hashtag.⁹³ Additionally, black females tend to represent the most frequent race and gender posting with the hashtag on Twitter.⁹³

The evidence discussed above suggests that Twitter is a widely used social media platform to post and share information relating to a broad range of topics. Twitter users tend to be young adults aged 18 – 29. However, the demographics of Twitter are changing from year to year as more older, white, and rural individuals become Twitter users. There is not much difference between genders when it comes to geotagged tweets. Twitter has become a novel outlet for individual expression, including racism. However, it is also a method for users to actively resist racism and revert its penetration and effects throughout society. Considering this, Twitter can be a useful data source for researchers to understand the potential prevalence of racism and response mechanisms.

2.5 NEED FOR PROPOSED RESEARCH

This literature review indicates that racial or ethnic discrimination results in harmful side effects including poor mental health, the practice of unhealthy behaviors, and poor health outcomes. There are multiple pathways suggesting the rationale resulting in these associations between racism and poor health; one common pathway being stress. Exposure to racism increases one's exposure to stress. The frequency of exposure to stress can manifest into negative health outcomes. Additionally, evidence discussed



above shows that individuals experiencing racial discrimination are less likely to receive adequate health care services subsequently resulting in poor overall wellbeing. There are also many pathways that explain this association. When a patient perceives racial discrimination while seeking healthcare services, it might indeed evoke a response to shy away from healthcare settings which can result in unmet needs and poor overall health. The latter pathway can have a profound impact in areas where access to care is limited and patients don't have the option to choose from a vast pool of healthcare providers. Perceived discrimination also disrupts the patient-provider relationship hindering a trustworthy relationship which can lead to inadequate care or a lower quality of care. This indicates the significance of cultural competency training for providers to mitigate the occurrence of unintentional racial and cultural discrimination and to ensure an open patient-provider relationship built on trust and respect. Lastly, race and racism consciousness also proves to be a very plausible mechanism explaining the relationship between health and experienced racism. Many of these pathways indicate that individual response to stressful experiences with racism is critical in understanding the causality between racism and health.

Social media platforms, like Twitter, have become a breeding ground for the proliferation of racism and "hate speech." It is necessary to explore social media data to ascertain and quantify the existence of racism on websites like Twitter. Additionally, given the ample evidence suggesting the association between racism and health, it is important to ascertain these effects given the presence of online racism. Also, current literature doesn't examine racism across geographical areas with respect to rurality (rural verses urban differences). This study is concerned with applying a relatively novel



measure of potential racism (using a measure of a racial slur from an online social media platform) linked with county level demographics and population characteristics to determine the association between the use of a racism related racial slur and black mortality.

This study will have significant implications on the field of public health and health policy. The study can serve as evidence of the health and longevity effects of racial tension and expression of racism in an online environment. Applying a geographical and rurality approach to the study will help to quantify the effects across specific areas to allow for effective, targeted public health interventions to monitor and remediate the effects. The potential findings of the study can also influence the future implementation of social media laws and policies relating to appropriate behavior in an online setting like Twitter. Furthermore, potential findings can influence the development of built-in methods to monitor, assess and control behavior across social media websites and applications. As technology advances and the gap between individuals' access to the world-wide web restricts, the potential for online racism and other forms of discrimination will worsen, subsequently influencing individual health and wellbeing. Therefore, public health efforts will be needed to combat the effects of online discrimination.



CHAPTER 3

METHODS

3.1 WORKING CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

I have developed a working conceptual framework based on the culmination of the above theories that posits the influence of all levels (macro and micro) of experienced racism on individual health and wellbeing. Please refer to Figure 3.1 for a diagram of the framework. In the working framework, racism is broken down into two main levels; organized racism and social racism. I define organized racism as racial prejudice and discrimination initiated by institutions and/or systems including government, occupational, healthcare, educational, and online. Social racism is defined as prejudice and discrimination occurring between differing racial/ethnic groups throughout society based on the social assignment of race and racial hierarchies. The occurrence of organized and social racism accumulates and manifests into multiple pathways through which racism occurs at the individual or micro level. The interaction of these pathways is the central and most integral part of the framework. These pathways are represented in a circle to emphasize that they take place throughout one's life course. The frequency and intensity of these pathways result in established stress. However, what links racism to health is by way of response to the stress. Individual response can be either protective or harmful. Protective responses include taking affirmative action, building resilience, actively recognizing racism, and patriating in protests and national movements against racial discrimination. Harmful responses include internalizing stress brought on by



racism, acculturating to societal racial stereotypes and stigmas, and avoiding direct racial discrimination.

This working theoretical framework gets at the idea that stress derived from perceived racism and individual response to it might be the link needed to determine causality between experienced racism and poor health. The working framework considers racism occurring at all levels throughout society and their accumulating effect on individual health and wellbeing. As the framework adapts concepts from all of the models and theories discussed above, it is heavily influenced by those posited by Krieger, Jones, and Clark et. al. This model does not exist to explain why racial attitudes are more prevalent in one area or the other nor does it try to explain how or why an individual might perceive an interaction, behavior or some other stimulus to be racist; it merely tries to explain how racial related disparities of health and health outcomes might be a resultant of an aggregation of effects and responses imposed by the system of racism. The proposed study cannot measure the conceptual framework in its entirety. The study can only look at quantifying the association between racism in an online environment and mortality. The levels of stress experienced by those exposed to online racism will not be accounted for and measured in this study. Additionally, the study will not try to prove or validate the framework as an evidence based model to be applied for future studies.

3.2 STUDY DESIGN

To study the effect of the use of the racial slur "nigger" on Twitter and black mortality, a cross sectional analysis of black mortality will be applied at the county level. The study population is 653 counties across seven southern states including: Virginia (135 counties), North Carolina (100 counties), South Carolina (46 counties), Georgia



(159 counties), Alabama (67 counties), Mississippi (82 counties), and Louisiana (64 counties).

The American South has mostly been considered a distinct part of America. McKinney and Bourque⁹⁴ described the American south as traditionally being viewed as a "passive, backward, and often recalcitrant region of the country: a section whose existence the rest of the country would often like to ignore." McKinney and Bourque attribute this conception of the American south to three historical reasons.⁹⁴ First, the tradition with its emphasis on the uniqueness and difference of the south contributing to a "Southern mystique" emphasizing its distinctiveness of the region in contrast to its shared experiences and characteristics. Secondly, the emphasis on local color has developed a view of dramatic value, in lieu of objective value. Southern writers and playwrights wrote with dramatic value rather than representative purpose drawing on the southern life. Lastly, the mass media has created a somewhat negative image of the south focusing on the south's intransigence in race relations and the idiosyncrasies of southern politics. These three historical concepts have painted a picture of the American south as a "colorful land" with a variety of people consisting of: blacks, crackers, creoles, rednecks, sheriffs, mountaineers, sharecroppers, itinerant preachers, and Klansmen; and characterized by poverty, ignorance, traditionalism, and resistance to change.⁹⁴ McKinney and Bourque emphasize that the American south started to experience an economical change in the 1970s thanks to new processes changing the way in which persons obtain a living and new styles of daily life. These changes have been propelled by industrial and technological change, variance in occupational structure, development of transportation and communication infrastructure, and increased urbanization.⁹⁴ As the



south continues to experience growth and economic change however, similar health disparities can be identified across the South.

Holt⁹⁵ carried out a spatial analysis of the US at the county level to ascertain pockets of poverty. His findings indicated high poverty clusters spread across the southern United States as well as in the northern Great Plains states. Areas of extremely high poverty are those that have been historically and culturally defined as Appalachia, the Cotton Belt, the Bootheel of Missouri, the Mississippi Delta, the border region of Mexico, and tribal lands in the Four Corners region.⁹⁵ Holt described his findings as generating a distinct north-south divide (defined as the continental poverty divide) across most of the US in which concentrations of low poverty and spatial outliers of high poverty are confined to the north and concentrations of high poverty and spatial outliers of low poverty confined to the south.⁹⁵ Murray and colleagues⁹⁶ posit that the US can be divided into eight Americas based on their similarities of disparities; Asians, belowmedian income whites living in the Northland, middle America, poor whites living in Appalachia and the Mississippi Valley, Native Americans living on reservations in the West, black-middle America, poor blacks living in the rural south, and blacks living in high-risk urban environments. Similar patterns of life expectancy, middle aged and young adult mortality due to chronic disease death, patterns of tobacco use, alcohol consumption, and obesity are distinct to each America.⁹⁶ Hotez⁹⁷ also points out demographic similarities in the Mississippi Delta and the American South. In his study, Hotez notes high rural poverty rates, inadequate housing, and poor health as "hallmarks" of these areas.⁹⁷ Mortality rates attributed to cancer and heart disease in the south and Mississippi Delta are among the worst in the US.⁹⁷ Furthermore, tuberculosis, and several



parasitic and congenital infections plague blacks of the American south.⁹⁷ Hotez also mentions that "feminization of poverty," which is defined as the observation that women have fewer economic resources than do men and are more likely to be heads of singleparent families, is a southern landmark especially among single, southern black mothers living in poverty.⁹⁷ These findings indicate similar demographics in the American south creating a disadvantaged population in America experiencing poor health outcomes and poor living conditions. The demographic similarity of the American south represents its usefulness as a single sample population for research related to health disparities and health outcomes. This study will capitalize on the demographic similarities of the American south to ascertain mortality differences within the south as associated with the prevalence and intensity of racist tweets and racist tweeters.

3.3 DATA SOURCES

Data for this study will obtained from five retrospective data sources; Twitter, Area Health Resource File (AHRF), and CDC Wonder, County Health Rankings and social capital variables from a publicly available source maintained by the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development. These data sources and their intending use for the study will be described here.

3.3.1 TWITTER DATA – THE DOLLY PROJECT

The Data on Local Life and You (DOLLY) Project based at the University of Kentucky is in the early phase of bringing a large social media dataset to the hands of researchers. The DOLLY project leverages on a very robust server-based data mining system along with the advantages of ad hoc desktop applications and small, relevant datasets to minimize technical barriers.⁹⁸ DOLLY has collected all geotagged tweets in



the world, dating back to June 2012; a corpus of over 12 billion tweets and counting. The system allows for real-time search and data extraction. Geotagged tweets are collected via the DOLLY system by using a 1 percent and 10 percent Streaming Application Program Interface (API).⁹⁸ Parallel streams are set up at the 1-percent level and filtered by a different spatial bounding box covering a continent.⁹⁸ Each one of these streams can collect 1 percent of tweets. In the case of a filter on a stream matching more than 1 percent, the resulting set is sampled down to 1 percent. The latter feature narrows each stream to a small bounding box to ensure that geotagged tweets that fall within the box are relatively always below 1 percent of all tweets.⁹⁸ The second level of the system collects a separate stream consisting of 10 percent of all tweets and not only geotagged tweets. This second level is used to monitor the total number of tweets that surface every day and to determine the proportion of those that are geotagged. There are three primary types of geotags attached to tweets: latitude/longitude coordinates (generated via GPS, cellular tower, or Wi-Fi location), a place (e.g. Columbia, SC), or place and a coordinate pair.⁹⁸ The latitude/longitude coordinate is used to perform a spatial join to larger areal units (country and state/province-level for all countries and county and census tract levels for the US).⁹⁸

Immediately when tweets come in, they are indexed. This approach allows for accurate and relatively quick searches across the DOLLY system. ElasricSearch uses indices that are organized by month and the seven bounding boxes (continents) used for the Twitter Streaming API.⁹⁸ This allows for a researcher to search and extract data from a specific continent and month or a wider search like across an entire year. Every single field within each index is individually indexed. For fields containing text (like the tweet



itself or user bio), a full-text index is constructed by splitting the field into terms and creating n-grams – strings within each word up to the length n – for each term.⁹⁸ This allows for searches to match partial words and to search using wildcards. The latter feature of the DOLLY system allows for the application of Levenshtein's⁹⁹ string distance to account for spelling variations, singular-plural, shortened words and general typos.⁹⁸ Currently, the data from the DOLLY system is not publicly available. However, the DOLLY research team has a goal to make the data available via a website allowing for researchers to execute their own extraction. Use of the data from the DOLLY project for this study was cleared and provided by the Principal Investigator and Director of the project, Dr. Matthew Zook a Professor of Geography at the University of Kentucky. 3.3.2 AREA HEALTH RESOURCE FILE (AHRF)

The AHRF, formerly the Area Resource File (ARF), is a computerized, countybased data system that consolidates a vast array of data into a consistent, current and compatible set of files.¹⁰⁰ It is maintained in the Office of Data Analysis and Management in the Health Resources and Services Administration. The AHRF is a compilation from more than 200 sources if data assessing the nation's health care resources.¹⁰⁰ The data are merged and summarized at the county level. Normally, the AHRF has between 7,000 and 9,00 data elements at one time.¹⁰⁰ The major types of data contained in the ARF is information on health professions (physician specialty data by age, sex, and location of medical school); Hospital characteristics and utilization data (number of beds, patient days, admissions, outpatient visits, hospital personnel, etc.); Vital statistics (numbers of births, infant mortality, number of low-birth weights infants by race and sex and mortality by cause, age, sex, and race); Medicare expenditures by



county; Demographic data (detailed age-, sex-, and race specific population estimates and decennial census on housing units, households and families, urban and farm population, and educational level of the population); Economic data (income distribution, annual unemployment , and employment statistics); Health professions education (number of students, graduation and tuition statistics).¹⁰⁰ This data is publicly available and can be downloaded the website, <u>https://ahrf.hrsa.gov/download.htm</u>. Controlled variables including education level, household income, unemployment, primary care to population ratio, and hospital count per county to be used in the study will come from the AHRF and averaged according to the study time period (2012-2015).

3.3.3 CDC WONDER

The third and final dataset to be used for the study is the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiological Research (also CDC WONDER). CDC WONDER is a comprehensive online public health information system that was developed for public health professionals to quickly and easily access information from a wide variety of sources, including surveys and surveillance systems, specialized studies, the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) and descriptions of state and local health department activities.¹⁰¹ Using CDC WONDER, users can query data via menus. Tabular and textual results can be viewed on screen and downloaded to a computer or a device for further analysis. CDC WONDER also allows for a user to conduct search through textual databases like the MMWR. In lieu of keywords, the system searches for words or phrases that appear anywhere in the text, including titles and tables.¹⁰¹ A third useful feature of the CDC WONDER system is allowing the user to look up International Classification of Disease (ICD-9) codes. The



system searches the full index and then displays a list of codes associated with the search term.¹⁰¹ There are four types of data available on the CDC WONDER system. The first is large numerical datasets from which the user can create multiway tables, bar charts, county-level maps, and customized subsets for further analysis.¹⁰¹ The second is preformatted tabular datasets consisting of tens of thousands of tables that can be searched, read, and printed but not otherwise manipulated.¹⁰¹ The third is textual data made up of diverse materials such as the full text of the MMWR, listings of the CDC personnel, and organizational listings. The fourth type of data is a stock of dozens of SAS data sets derived from large health surveys; output is restricted to subsets analyzable with SAS or other statistical software.¹⁰¹ Data from CDC WONDER is publicly available and can be accesses via the website, <u>https://wonder.cdc.gov/</u>. The outcome variable (gender combined county level black mortality rates) will be averaged for the study time period (2012-2015) and will be obtained from the CDC Wonder online tool.

3.3.4 RWJF COUNTY HEALTH RANKINGS & SOCIAL CAPITAL

Every year since 2010, the University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation have released the "County Health Rankings" which are considered to be a "population health checkup" for the nation's 3,000 plus counties.¹⁰² The rankings are created using the "Rankings" conceptual model which includes both health outcomes and health factors. Health outcomes are divided into two components; length of life and quality of life.¹⁰² Health factors are divided into four components including: health behaviors, clinical care, social and economic factors, and quality of life.¹⁰² Data for over 30 measures are available at the county level. Each county is used as the geographical level of analysis and is defined by the FIPS code. Data for



each of the components of the County Health Rankins are selected from varying national data sources, including the National Center for Health Statistics, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, and American Community Survey.¹⁰² The County Health Rankings are publicly available and can be accessed at <u>http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/</u>. The study will utilize the most recent (2017) County Health Rankings. Income inequality by county will be derived from the County Health Rankings to be used as a control variable in the study.

Two measures of social capital at the county level will be obtained from a publicly available dataset maintained by the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development at Penn State.⁵² The data is maintained in an excel file listing various measures of social capital at the county level (i.e. religious organizations, civic and social organizations, business associations, political organizations, professional organizations, fitness and recreational sports centers, etc.). The data also includes a social capital index as an aggregate measurement of all of the available factors. For the purpose of this study, voter turnout (percent of voters in the 2012 Presidential Election) and Census response rates (percent of respondents to the 2010 US Census Survey) both at the county level will be obtained from the 2014 version of the dataset. The data can be accessed at http://aese.psu.edu/nercrd/community/social-capital-resources.

3.3.5 TWITTER DATA AS A PROXY FOR RACISM

Data from social media outlets like Twitter and others is an effective proxy to measure area level racial discrimination and/or hate speech. The approach taken to capturing the measurement varies. Silva and colleagues¹⁰³ suggest applying a basic sentence structure to capture hate speech across online sites. The sentence structure can


be easily leveraged across posts to pinpoint explicit hate statements. Silva et al. suggest applying a sentence structure starting with "I" followed by intensity, user intent, and hate target. The "I" identifies that the post applies directly to their personal feelings or expression. The verb, user intent, specifies what the intent of the user is or how he/she feels. The intensity is used to capture tendencies where users might try to amplify their feelings (e.g. really). The hate target captures who the expression is targeted to. Other studies analyzing online websites or social media outlets have applied other ways to identify discrimination. Davidson et al.¹⁰⁴ applied a crowd-sourced hate speech lexicon to collect tweets containing hate speech keywords and labeled them into three categories: those containing hate speech, only offensive language, and those with neither. Tweets with the highest predicted probabilities of being hate speech tend to contain multiple racial or homophobic slurs. Tweets containing the slurs "nigger" and f*ggot tend to be correctly identified as hate. True hate speech tweets with the highest predicted probability of being offensive are genuinely less hateful and were perhaps mislabeled as offensive. The authors suggest that skimmers probably picked out words or phrases that appeared to be hateful without considering the context. Davidson et al. conclude that tweets misclassified as hate speech contain multiple slurs such as: n*gga, h*es, and b*tch. Terms used in racist tweets mostly included the words "nigger" and f*ggot. Similarly, Kwok and Wang¹⁰⁵ applied a supervised machine learning approach employing labeled data from Twitter accounts to learn a binary classifier for racist and nonracist labels. The authors designed a survey to identify the complexity of identifying hate speech and assessed statistical reliability of agreement using Fleiss' Kappa. The average accuracy rate was 76% with an average error rate of 24%. Text sentiments were not considered.



Kwok and Wang identified that "niggers" and "nigger" bear the greatest racist feature at counts of 3040 and 2363, respectively, whereas n*ggas and n*gga were only found in the nonracist dataset at 516 and 763 times, respectively. Their findings indicate that the terms "nigger" and "niggers" are standard for insulting blacks. The terms n*gga and n*ggas were limited to informal speech and confined within the black community on Twitter.

The evidence above suggests that online measures are effective and accurate in serving as a proxy for area racism. The evidence discussed here also highlights the accuracy of using the racial slur "nigger" and "niggers" as a measure of racism on Twitter and other similar websites.

3.4 DATA VARIABLES

The data variables to be studied (dependent, independent, and control) will be discussed in this section. Variables of interest are influenced by literature and their association with black mortality.

3.4.1 DEPENDENT VARIABLE

The outcome variable for the first paper is the Twitter data obtained through the DOLLY project. The primary outcome variable is gender combined age and population adjusted black mortality rates obtained from the CDC WONDER. The CDC WONDER allows for easy download of county level average all-cause mortality data by race and gender and for the specified study time-period (2012 - 2015).

3.4.2 INDEPENDENT VARIABLE(S)

For the purposes of this study, a racial slur will be defined as a tweet containing the word "nigger". Literature has shown that the conventional spelling of the slur is predominately used in a derogatory or discriminating way on social media websites like



Twitter.⁹² A count of tweets will be obtained from Twitter via the DOLLY Project. Data were extracted from the DOLLY system using a search for the keyword "nigger." The search was applied over the study states (Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana) and extracted at the county level across each state. The Twitter dataset contains state and county Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) codes to identify specific state and county.

The primary independent variable of interest will be the racist tweeter rate (tweeters as a percent of the total population per county). Additionally, tweeter intensity (racial slur tweets per tweeter for each county) will be a secondary independent variable of interest. To depict the racist tweeter rate and tweeter intensity, the proportion of each will be mapped by county for all 653 studied counties.

A third independent variable of interest to be applied to the study is rurality (rural vs. urban). Rurality information will be obtained from the most recent (2015-2016) AHRF. Rurality will be defined the same way as it is in the AHRF, according to the 2013 Rural-Urban Continuum Codes (RUCC). RUCC forms a classification scheme that distinguishes metropolitan counties by the population size of their metro area, and nonmetropolitan counties by degree of urbanization and adjacency to a metro area.¹⁰⁶ Metro and non-metro categories have been subdivided into three metro and six non-metro categories. Each county in the U.S. is assigned one of the nine codes as follows: 1 (Counties in metro areas of 1 million population or more); 2 (Counties in metro areas of 250,000 to 1 million population); 3 (Counties in metro areas of fewer than 250,000 population); 4 (Urban population of 20,000 or more, adjacent to a metro areas); 5 (Urban population of 20,000 or more, not adjacent to a metro area); 6 (Urban population of 2,500



to 19,999, adjacent to a metro area); 7 (Urban population of 2,500 to 19,999, not adjacent to a metro area); 8 (Completely rural or less than 2,500 urban population, adjacent to a metro area); 9 (Completely rural or less than 2,500 urban population, not adjacent to a metro area).¹⁰⁶ To depict the influence of rurality on the number of tweets containing the racial slur and the number of tweeters posting it on Twitter, a bivariate map showing the levels of rurality and the proportion of tweets and tweeters will be mapped by county for all 653 studied counties.

3.4.3 CONTROL VARIABLES

Current literature shows various associations between independent and area level socioeconomic status and access to care with all-cause mortality and black mortality rates. Education level¹⁰⁷, household income^{108,109}, unemployment¹¹⁰, health insurance (insured vs. non-insured)¹¹¹, income inequality^{112,113}, primary care provider/population ratio¹¹⁴, and count of hospitals per county^{115,116} will be controlled for in the study in order to account for the differences in SES and access to care across counties. In the County Rankings data, income inequality is reported as the ratio of household income at the 80th percentile to that at the 20th percentile. A higher inequality ratio indicates greater division between the top and bottom ends of the income spectrum. The income inequality ratio for each county in 2017 County Health Rankings was generated using 2011-2015 data. Primary care provider supply is conceptualized as a ratio of the number of primary care physicians per 100,000. The primary care ratio for each county will be averaged for the study time period (2012-2015) for each county. Most of the controlled variables (education, household income, unemployment, health insurance, and primary care provider ratio) will be obtained from the most recent (2015-2016) AHRF and will be



assessed at the county level and averaged according to the study time period (2012-2015). Two variables of social capital, voter turnout and Census response rates, will be obtained from a publicly available website. Voter turnout is measured as the percent of voters in a county who voted in the 2012 Presidential election. The Census response rate measures the percentage of households within a county who completed the 2010 Census survey. Additionally, the percent of the black and white population at the county level will be averaged for the study time-period (2012-2015) to account for the proportion of each racial group across counties.

3.5 DATA ANALYSIS

The total sample for the study consists of 36,490 racist tweets coming from 615 of the 653 studied counties over the period of June 2012-2015. The total number of racist tweeters across the study population was 16,303 with an average of 2 racist tweets per person. The Twitter data obtained from the DOLLY Project consists only of extracted geotagged tweets containing the racial slur of interest, "nigger(s)." In order to obtain the primary and secondary independent variables of interest (racist tweeter rate and tweeter intensity per county) a count of all racist tweets per county will be generated. The racist tweeter rate will be calculated as the number of tweeters as a percentage of the total county population. The racist tweeter rate will be population adjusted to account for variance in number of tweeters for each county due solely to county population. The tweeter intensity rate will be calculated as the average number of tweets containing the racial slur per tweeter for each county. To depict the prevalence of racism, the racist tweeter rate and the tweeter intensity rate will be mapped by county for each research question. To show the influence of rurality, a bivariate map will be produced for each



measure that shows the variance across rural and urban defined counties. Spatial analysis will be

To test for associations between black mortality and tweets containing a racial slur, linear regression with generalized linear modeling will be used. Coefficient estimates and standard errors will be reported and interpreted at 95% Confidence Intervals and p-values at alpha (0.05). The statistical software that will be used to carry out all the above functions of analyses is SAS 9.4 (Cary, North Carolina) and ArcMap 10.2.2 (Redlands, California).





Figure 3.1 – Working Conceptual Framework



CHAPTER 4

MANUSCRIPT 1

"GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF OBSERVED RACISM ON TWITTER IN THE AMERICAN SOUTH"¹

4.1 ABSTRACT

Racism is defined as a system of dominance and power designed to uphold the racially privileged of society. Exposure to racism is associated with socioeconomic status including educational level, income, and measures of social capital and social cohesion as well as poor health outcomes. The geographic distribution of observed racism and its relationship with socioeconomic factors and access to care at the county level is currently unknown. The purpose of this study is to explore the geographic distribution of observed racism as measured by use of the social application "Twitter" across the US south.

Data were retrospectively combined from Twitter, the 2015-2016 Area Health Resource File (AHRF), the 2017 Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) County Health Rankings, and measures of social capital from the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development. The study sample was made up of 653 counties across the states of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. Racist tweets were defined as geotagged tweets containing the racial slur "nigger(s)"

¹ Bullard, J. T., Probst, J. C., Hair, N., Eberth, J. M., Ingram, L. A. To be submitted to the Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities



between the years of 2012-2015. Three measures of observed racism (racist tweeter tare, racist tweet intensity, racist tweet rate) were calculated at the county level. Modeling of each measure of observed racism was done using logistic regression to test for association with county level predictors measuring socioeconomic status and access to care.

Findings indicate that for all three measures of observed racism, rural areas experience lower odds of racist tweeting, in comparison to their urban counterparts. Furthermore, the odds of greater racist tweeting behavior decreases as a county's unemployment rate increases. Voter turnout is a protective factor against racist tweeting behavior. Other factors including education and access to care were also found to be associated with racist tweeting behavior in at least one of the metrics. Spatial analysis indicates hotspots of high racist tweeting behavior across the American South, especially in mid-Georgia near Macon and among counties surrounding Columbia, South Carolina.

Overall, racist tweeting is minimal across the US South, except with a few hotspots mostly in Georgia and South Carolina. Rurality, unemployment rates, and voter turnout were found to be the most significant predictors of racist tweeting behavior. Findings suggests that county level socioeconomic and geographic factors are related to the behavior and distribution of racist tweeting across the South.

4.2 INTRODUCTION

The conceptualization of racial discrimination or racism goes beyond unfair treatment toward an individual or group of individuals with racial commonalities. According to Harrell⁵⁵, racism is defined as a system of dominance, power and privilege designed to uphold the racially privileged and to exclude the unprivileged from power, esteem, status, and/or equal access to social resources. Jones⁵⁸ posits that racism can be



understood on three levels, namely institutionalized, personally mediated, and internalized. Institutionalized racism is racism at a societal level (i.e. government) influencing individuals' access to information, resources, wealth, social networks, voting rights, government representation, and control of the media.⁵⁸ Personally mediated racism occurs at an individual level exhibited through a lack of respect, suspicion, devaluation, scapegoating, and dehumanization.⁵⁸ Internalized racism is potentially the most dangerous as Jones defines it as acceptance by members of the stigmatized races of negative messages about their own abilities and intrinsic worth.⁵⁸ Racial discrimination has played a large role throughout history influencing wars, government policies, political efforts, and national movements such as the Civil War, residential segregation and the Federal Housing Act of 1934, the Civil Rights Movement in the 1960s and most recently the #BlackLivesMatter movement on social media.^{2,10}

Exposure to racism can occur at two levels; experienced or observed. Experienced racism is concerned with perception of discrimination due to race. Observed racism is a more objective measure of racism. Ample evidence suggests that experienced racism is associated with a myriad of negative health outcomes and behaviors including poor mental health, psychological distress, obesity, smoking, alcohol consumption, and unmet healthcare needs.^{19–26} Racial and other forms of discrimination can act as a stressor influencing biological markers of stress such as vagus nerve functioning, cognitive schema, and allostatic load.^{17,18} The onset of stress is associated with poor mental and physical health outcomes including hypertension, coronary heart disease and depression.^{13,15,16} The aforementioned evidence suggests that experienced racism can lead



to negative health outcomes for minority populations resulting in subsequent health disparities.

Twitter, originally launched in 2006 as a social media website, has morphed into an integral part of American cultural allowing its users to post (tweet) information in real time and to follow other users.⁸⁶ As of 2013, Twitter use has expanded to over 200 million active users generating over 400 million tweets per day.⁸⁶ Twitter commonly finds itself in the midst of political debates, media gossip, entertainment news, celebrity fights, and business ordeals. The demographics of Twitter users consists mostly of young (18-29 years of age), black, urbanites.⁸⁷ However, these demographics are changing as the proportion of Twitter usage among older adults (those aged 65 and older) and whites significantly increased between 2013 and 2014.^{87,88}

Observed racism can be measured by the use of racial slurs and/or hate speech on media sites like Twitter. Researchers at Humboldt State University examined the frequency and quantity of tweets containing racist words and their use in a derogatory manner and found that the eastern and southern parts of America are prone to be the most racially biased parts of the country.²⁷ Maryland, Virginia, the District of Columbia, North Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and parts of Tennessee and Mississippi were the states with most observed racism.²⁷ A similar study by Stephens-Davidowitz²⁸ concluded that rural areas in the Northeast and South are the most racist places in America by using geocoded Google search terms for the ""nigger"..." Like Stephens-Davidowitz, Chae and colleagues⁴⁵ utilized Google search phrases including the "nigger" as their measure of racism and studied its association on black mortality across 210 designated market areas (DMAs) as defined by Nielsen Media Research. In assessing the effects of observed



racism, Chae et al. found that area racism was significantly associated with all-cause black mortality.

The internet and social media platforms like Twitter have become a breeding ground for individual expression of attitude, behavior, ideas, political views, opinions, etc. Subsequently, as society becomes more technologically dependent, the practice of racial discrimination has found its way onto the internet becoming a more anonymous way to post views, ideas and comments about others.^{64,65} A recent study recorded a total of 6.7 million racial slurs on Twitter over a period of two weeks during the month of September in 2015.⁹² The term "nigga" was the most popular followed by "white boy" and the ""nigger"..." The researchers concluded "nigga" is used a friendly means of communication between two black individuals while the more primitive spelling of the word is used in a much more offensive manner.⁹² Findings from additional studies concerned with ascertaining the application of racism and hate speech on the internet and websites like Twitter, also found that the use of words like "nigger", "niggers", and "f*ggot" tend to be used in more offensive and racist language directed at certain groups of individuals.^{104,105} These findings suggest that online measures of racism can serve as a proxy for observed racism.

The purpose of this study is to identify the factors associated with racist tweeting and its geographic distribution across the South. Tweets containing the racist slur, "nigger", will be used as a measure of observed racism. This study will expand upon the literature cited above to determine what social factors are related to observed racism at the county level and to determine geographic distribution with regards to ascertaining clusters and/or hotspots of racist tweeting. Furthermore, due to the history of slavery in



the American South and its similar demographic makeup^{94,95,97}, the study will focus on seven southern states considered to be part of the deep, American South: Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Mississippi, Alabama, and Louisiana.

4.3 METHODS

4.3.1 POPULATION AND DATA SOURCES

The sample population consisted of a total of 653 counties across seven southern states: Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Mississippi, Alabama, and Louisiana. There were a total of 36,490 racist tweets coming from 615 of the 653 documented counties. These tweets were generated from 16,303 tweeters. A total of 2 counties were removed from the study due to having unreliable or unknown values for social factors, leaving a final total of 651 counties.

Data for the study were retrospectively combined from a combination of sources including: Twitter, the Area Health Resource File (AHRF), the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) County Health Rankings, and social capital variables from the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development.⁵²

4.3.2 DEPENDENT VARIABLE

The outcome is racist tweeting on Twitter measured using three metrics. Twitter data was provided by the Data on Local Life and You (or DOLLY) project housed at the University of Kentucky. The DOLLY project has collected all geotagged tweets in the world, dating back to June 2012, a corpus of over 12 billion tweets⁹⁸ The DOLLY project leverages on a very robust server-based data mining system along with the advantages of ad hoc desktop applications and small, relevant datasets to minimize technical barriers.⁹⁸



The system allows for real-time search and data extraction based on terms and/or phrases. Geotagged tweets were extracted from the system based on the search term "niggers". Tweets were restricted to a specific time-period (June 2012 – December 2015). Tweets from 2016 were excluded due to the racial tension and uneasy climate surrounding the 2016 presidential campaign. A racist tweet was defined as a tweet containing the racial slur "niggers". A count of all racist tweets and racist tweeters for each county were used to calculate three different measurement of racist tweets/tweeters. First a racist tweeter rate was calculated as the rate of racist tweeters divided by the county population then multiplied by 10,000. Secondly, racist tweeter intensity was calculated as the rate of tweets per racist tweeter for each county then multiplied by 10,000. Third, a racist tweet rate was calculated as the rate of racist tweets divided by the county population then multiplied by 10,000. Average county population rates for 2012-2015 were used in the calculation of these measures of racism. Population estimates were obtained from the 2015-2016 AHRF. The racist tweeter rate and tweet intensity were mapped using a color saturated legend to show variation of each across the sample population.

For analysis purposes, each independent variable was split into quartiles at the 25^{th} (Q1) 50^{th} (Q2), 75^{th} (Q3), and $>75^{\text{th}}$ (Q4) percentiles. The cutoff points for each quartile of the racist tweeter rate measurement was 1.57, 2.67, 4.06, and >4.06 for Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4, respectively. Cutoff points for Q1 – Q4 for the racist tweet intensity measure was 1.00, 1.49, 1.93, and >1.93, respectively. For the last measure of racism, racist tweet rate, the cutoff points for each quartile was 2.17, 4.02, 7.28, and >7.28 for Q1 – Q4, respectively.



4.3.3 PREDICTOR VARIABLES

Potential predictors of interest, due to their association with racism and health, were pulled from the most recent (2015-2016) AHRF for each county. The AHRF is a computerized, county-based data system consisting of more than 200 sources of data aimed at assessing the nation's health care resources.¹⁰⁰ Predictors included: education (% of county population with a college degree, 2010-2014); unemployment rate (averaged 2012-2015); health insurance (% of county population 18-64 without health insurance averaged 2012-2014); primary care physician supply (calculated as the number of primary care physicians per 10,000 of the county population, averaged 2012-2014); and hospital bed supply (calculated as the number of beds per 10,000 of the county population, 2013). Rurality, defined as rural and urban according to the 2013 Rural Urban Continuum Codes (RUCC), was also obtained from the 2015-2016 AHRF file. RUCC Codes 1-3 were categorized as urban while RUCC codes 4-9 were categorized as urban. Two measures of social capital, voter turnout (percent of voters in the 2012 Presidential Election) and census response rate (percent of responders to the decennial Census survey), were obtained from the 2014 county level measures of social capital maintained by the Northeast Regional Center for Rural Development.⁵² A final predictor variable, income inequality for the period 2011-2015, was obtained from the 2017 RWJF County Health Rankings. The 2017 RWJF county rankings measures income inequality as the ratio of household income at the 80th percentile to that at the 20th percentile¹⁰² A higher inequality ratio indicates greater division between the top and bottom ends of the income spectrum. The percent of the white and black population (averaged from 2012-2015) was controlled for to account for the proportion of each across counties.



4.3.4 ANALYSIS

Potential predictors and tweets containing a racial slur were tested for association using logistic regression. Coefficients estimating the unit change in the varying quantiles of racist tweeting and odds ratios were reported and interpreted at 95% Confidence Intervals and p-values at alpha (0.05). Three models which tested the county predictor variables with each measure of observed racism were ran independently to determine association of predictors on each measure. Cluster analysis using Anselin Local Moran's I was used to identify statistically significant clusters of racist tweeting. Statistically significant hot spots and cold spots were tested for using Getis-Ord Gi* statistic. The distribution of racist tweeting quantiles were mapped across the study population for each measure using color saturated maps. Hot spots and cold spots were mapped across the study population for each measure. All analyses were carried out using SAS 9.4 (Cary, North Carolina) and ArcMap 10.2.2 (Redlands, California).

4.4 RESULTS

Table 1 shows the characteristics of studied counties. The mean racist tweeter rate, racist tweet intensity and racist tweet rate across the counties was $3.9 (\pm 16.9)$, $1.8 (\pm 1.6)$, and $7.9 (\pm 37.7)$ per 10,000, respectively. The mean primary care provider supply and hospital bed supply across the counties was $4.9 (\pm 3.5)$ and $3.0 (\pm 4.2)$ per 10,000, respectively. The average income inequality ratio across the same population was $4.9 (\pm 0.8)$. An average of $18.9\% (\pm 9.6)$ of the population across the counties were college educated. The mean percentage of uninsured adults and the average unemployment rate across the sample was $22.7 (\pm 4.1)$ and $7.9 (\pm 2.1)$, respectively. The respective mean voter turnout and Census response rate for the study population was $68.5\% (\pm 6.1)$ and



70.4%(\pm 10.0). The sample population, on average, consisted of 67.0% (\pm 18.2) and 27.6% (\pm 19.3) of whites and blacks, respectively. The majority of the study population was rural (52.8%) while the remaining 47.2% was categorized as urban.

Figure 1 maps the racist tweeter rate across all counties included in the sample population. Color saturation was used to show changing levels between quartiles. The shade of the red color darkens going from Q1 to Q4 racist tweeter rates across counties. Racist tweeter rates categorized in the highest quartile can be seen throughout the sample in counties such as in the southern part of Louisiana in the Lafourche, Terrebonne, Saint Charles, Saint John the Baptist and Saint James parishes. High racist tweeter rates can also be seen in counties surrounding major cities across the sample like Atlanta Georgia, Montgomery Alabama, and Virginia Beach and Norfolk Virginia. Clustering analysis did not indicate any significant clusters of racist tweeter rates in the sample ([Moran's I p-value],0.8637). Figure 2 maps the hot and cold spots of the racist tweeter rate across the sample. There are hotspots of counties with high racist tweeter rates situated in mid-Georgia (Hancock, Washington, Johnson, Baldwin, Wilkinson, Laurens, Jones, Twiggs, Bleckley, Houston, Bibb) and areas surrounding South Carolina's state capital, Columbia (Richland, Sumter, Clarendon, Calhoun, Orangeburg, Bamberg, Lexington).

Figure 3 maps the racist tweet intensity across counties in the sample population. High rates of racist tweet intensity can be seen in the southern part of Louisiana. The three counties with the highest observed racist tweet intensity are: Greene, Virginia (12.0); Newton, Mississippi (15.6); and Marion, Georgia (18.0). Clustering analysis did not indicate any significant clusters of racist tweet intensity rates across the sample (0.2778). Figure 4, however, indicates some counties with significant hot and cold spots



of racist tweet intensity rates. Hotspots can be observed in Mississippi (Kemper, Lauderdale, Clarke, Neshoba, Newton, Jasper, Leake, Scott, Smith, Pearl River), northwestern Alabama (Lauderdale and Colbert), Georgia (Harris, Muscogee, Chattahoochee, Stewart, Talbot, Marion, Webster, Taylor, Macon, Schley, Sumter), southern and coastal South Carolina (Charleston, Berkeley, Colleton, Orangeburg), mid-South Carolina (Richland), and Virginia (Orange, Albemarle, Louisa, Fluvanna). Some cold spots can be observed in Louisiana (Madison), Georgia (McDuffie, Warren, Taliaferro), and North Carolina (Macon).

Figure 5 maps the racist tweet rate at the county level across the sample population. Spots of counties with racist tweet rates categorized in the highest quartile (Q4) can be seen in counties surrounding Atlanta, Georgia and Montgomery, Alabama and along the coast of South Carolina in Horry, Georgetown, and Charleston counties. Clustering analysis did not indicate any significant clusters of racist tweet rates across the sample population (0.8606). Figure 6 shows similar hotspots as observed for high racist tweeter rates are also observed for racist tweet rates in mid-Georgia and counties surrounding the state capital of South Carolina, Columbia.

Table 2 shows the relationship between each county level predictor and the racist tweeter rate. Going from urban to rural, a 0.55 unit (<.0001) decrease is expected in the racist tweeter rate. Compared to urban, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles (Q2, Q3, Q4) verses the lowest quartile (Q1) for rural areas is 1.33 times lower. Every one unit increase in the primary care provider and hospital bed supply is associated with a 0.13 unit (<.0001) and 0.05 unit (0.0041) increase in the racist tweeter rate. With every one unit increase in the primary care provider supply and hospital bed supply ratio,



the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lowest is 1.14 and 1.05 times higher, respectively. College education was also found to be significant with the racist tweeter rate. For every one unit increase in the percent of college educated adults, a 0.06 (<.0001) unit increase in the racist tweeter rate is expected. With every one unit increase in the percent of college educated adults, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses thee lowest quartile is 1.06 times higher. The uninsured and unemployment rate was also found to be significant with the racist tweeter rate. A one unit increase in the percent of uninsured adults and a county's unemployment rate was associated with a respective 0.08 (<.0001) and 0.15 (<.0001) unit decrease in the racist tweeter rate. With every one unit increase in the percent of uninsured and the unemployment rate, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.92 and 0.86 times lower, respectively. The census response rate was significantly associated with the racist tweeter rate. A one unit increase in a county's census response rate is associated with a 0.02 (0.0072) unit increase in the racist tweeter rate. With every one unit increase in the census response rate, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the highest quartile verses the lowest quartile is 1.02 times higher. The percent of whites and blacks in a county was significantly associated with the racist tweeter rate. A one unit increase in the percent of whites and blacks in a county was associated with a respective 0.02 (<.0001) unit decrease and 0.01 (0.0003) unit increase in the racist tweeter rate. For every one unit increase in the percent of whites in a county, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the higher quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.98 times lower. On the other hand, with every one unit increase in the percent of blacks in a county, the



odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 1.01 times greater.

Table 3 shows the bivariate relationships between each county predictor variable and the second metric, racist tweet intensity. The results were similar to the relationships observed with the racist tweeter rate above. Rurality, primary care provider supply ratio, education, percent of uninsured adults, unemployment rates, and the census response rate remained significant and showed similar relationships as observed with the racist tweeter rate. A new relationship, voter turnout showed a significant association with racist tweet intensity. A one unit increase in the voter turnout was associated with a 0.02 (0.0415) unit decrease in the racist tweet intensity rate. For every one unit increase in the voter turnout, the odds of racist tweet intensity in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.98 times lower.

Table 4 shows the results of testing for the relationship between each predictor and the third metric of observed racism, racist tweet rate. Similar to the previous metrics, rurality, primary care provider supply ratio, the percent of college educated adults and uninsured adults, and the average unemployment rate showed similar relationship with the racist tweet rate as observed with the earlier two metrics. Furthermore, the hospital bed supply ratio and the percent of whites and blacks in a county's population popped back up showing a significant association with the racist tweet rate. The bivariate relationships for this metric closely resembled those observed for the racist tweeter rate.

Table 5 shows the results of the association between quantiles of the racist tweeter rate and the county level predictor variables. Going from urban to rural, a 0.38 (<.0001)



unit decrease is expected in the racist tweeter rate while the other predictor variables in the model are held constant. Additionally, going from urban to rural, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles (Q2, Q3, Q4) verses the lowest quartile (Q1) is 0.46 times lower given all the other variables remain constant. A one unit increase in the percentage of uninsured adults is associated with a 0.05 (0.0476) unit decrease in the racist tweeter rate. With every one unit increase in the percent of uninsured adults, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.95 lower. The unemployment rate was found to be significantly associated with racist tweeter rates at the county level. A one unit increase in a county's unemployment rate is associated with a 0.18 (0.0009) unit decrease in the racist tweeter rate. The odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.83 times lower, with every one unit increase in the unemployment rate. The percent of whites and blacks in a population was also found to be significantly associated with the racist tweeter rate. With every one unit increase in the percent of whites and blacks, a respective 0.12 (<.0001) and 0.08 (0.0008) unit decrease in the racist tweeter rate is expected given the other variables are held constant. With every one unit increase in the percent of whites and blacks in a county, the odds of a racist tweeter rate in the upper quartiles verses the lower quartile is 0.89 and 0.93 lower, respectively.

Table 6 shows the results of the association between quantiles of the racist tweet intensity and the county level predictor variables. In comparison to model 1, some relationships as observed with the racist tweeter rate remained consistent (rurality and unemployment rate). Unlike model 1, the percent of whites and blacks in a county and the percent of uninsured adults, was not found to be significant with the second metric.



However, other county level predictors (voter turnout and census response) showed a significant association with racist tweet intensity. A one unit increase in the percentage of voters in the 2012 Presidential election is associated with a 0.05 (0.0003) unit decrease in the racist tweet intensity. Furthermore, with every one unit increase in the percent of a county's voter turnout, the odds of racist tweet intensity in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 0.88 times lower given the other variables in the model remain constant. Response rates to the 2010 Census was also found to be significantly associated with the racist tweet intensity. A one unit increase in the percent of census survey responders is associated with a 0.03 (0.0022) unit increase in a county's racist tweet intensity. With every one unit increase in the percent of responders, the odds of racist tweet intensity rates in the upper quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 1.03 times greater.

Table 7 shows the results of the model testing the association between county level predictor variables and upper and lower quantiles of the racist tweet rate. Rurality and unemployment rates continued to remain significant with racist tweet rates by showing a similar relationship as observed in the earlier models. Similar to the relationship in model 2, voter turnout was significantly associated with the racist tweet rate. The percent of whites and blacks in a county was also found to be significant with the third metric by showing similar relationships as observed in model 1. There was no significant relationship between census response rates and the racist tweet rate as was seen in model 2. The percent of college educated adults was found to be significant with racist tweet rates. A one unit increase the percent of college educated adults was associated with a 0.03 (0.0396) unit increase in the racist tweet rate. With every one unit increase in a county's percent of college educated adults, the odds of a racist tweet rate in



the higher quartiles verses the lowest quartile is 1.03 times greater, given the other variables in the model remained constant.

4.5 DISCUSSION

The results indicate a strong and consistent association between rurality and racist tweeting behavior as well as unemployment and racist tweeting. In comparison to their urban counterparts, rural areas experience lower odds of having greater racist tweeting rates across all three metrics. Furthermore, the odds of racist tweeting behavior declines as a county's unemployment rate increases. Measures of social capital (2012 Presidential election voter turnout) was also found to be associated with racist tweeting behavior across two of the three metrics suggesting voter turnout to be a protective factor against racist tweeting.

More recent studies suggest that the most racist places in the county are those in rural areas. Stephen Davidowitz²⁸ used Google searches for the n-word and aggregated them over multiple years as a measure of observed racism. His findings concluded that rural places in the South and the Northeast have higher observations of racist activity.²⁸ The findings indicated statistically significant clusters concentrated along the Appalachians and in rural southern portions of the nation including: North and South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, Louisiana and Florida.²⁸ Racial activity decreased moving westward. An additional study by students at Humboldt University found similar results as their findings indicated hotspots of hate speech (including racism, homophobia, or anti-disability) on Twitter with the majority stemming from small towns and rural areas.²⁷ The study however, does not indicate what proportion of hate speech is racist and to what extent rural accounts for racist hate speech. These findings indicate that rural areas tend



to experience high rates of observed racism. These findings are not parallel to those of this study. The odds of racist tweeting behavior among rural counties in the study population was found to be less than that of urban areas. Studies on Twitter demographics indicate that compared to urbanites, rural residents are much less likely to have active Twitter accounts and use Twitter on a daily basis.⁸⁷ Less utilization of Twitter by rural residents might help to explain the finding that urban areas are at greater odds of engaging in racist tweeting behavior.

Study findings indicated that the odds of greater racist tweeting behavior decreased as a county's unemployment rate increased. Ample evidence suggests a significant relationship between racial discrimination and unemployment.^{44,68,117} Evidence also indicates a relationship between residential segregation and unemployment suggesting that racial segregation has led to clusters of unemployed minorities.^{118,119} By way of institutional discrimination, employment opportunities and competitive income is restricted for minorities.¹²⁰ Furthermore, literature shows that segregation isolates blacks and other minorities into segregated communities from models of stable employment and social networks that could provide a segue to employment.¹²⁰ A study by Cutler and Glaeser¹¹⁸ find that black outcomes are significantly worse among racially segregated cities in comparison to their integrated counterparts. As segregation increases, blacks have lower high school graduation rates, more likely to be in an idle situation (unemployed nor in school), earn less income, and are more likely to be single mothers.¹¹⁸ A study by Collins and Margo¹¹⁹ also found similar results that closely resembled those of Cutler and Glaeser. These findings indicate that unemployed minorities, namely blacks, tend to be clustered together and their segregation accounts for



their unemployment due to lack of opportunity surrounding them.¹¹⁹ This might help to explain our finding of an indirect relationship between racist tweeting behavior and unemployment. As the unemployment increases, so does the chances of racial segregation and clusters of unemployed, racial groups which might account for a decreased odds of racist tweeting behavior in counties of higher unemployment.

Study findings also indicated that voter turnout was protective against increased racist tweeting behavior. This finding parallels to that of current evidence. A systematic review of the relationship between social capital and health inequality find that social capital and social cohesion are protective factors against racial discrimination and aide in coping responses to discrimination, especially among individuals of lower socioeconomic status.¹²¹ The proportion of voting increases as social capital increases and it is widely used as an indicator in social capital metrics and indices.⁵² Counties with higher voter turnout rates might indicate greater indices of social capital and social cohesion which could explain the reasoning behind the finding that the odds of racist tweeting decreases as voter turnout increases. A somewhat surprising finding was that racist tweeting behavior (racist tweet rate only) is estimated to increase as the percent of college educated adults in a county increases. A recent study by Wodtke¹²² finds that intelligent, high-ability whites are less likely to report prejudicial attitudes and more likely to support racial equality in principle, in comparison to their low-ability counterparts. The author(s) used verbal ability as measure of intelligence by using the Gallup-Thorndike Verbal Intelligence Test (GTVIT) which determines cognitive ability by employing a vocabulary test. High performing whites are more likely to support racial integration and acknowledge awareness of racial discrimination.¹²² However, high-ability whites are no



less likely than low-ability whites to support racial discriminatory policies. Findings by Wodtke indicated that high-ability whites were significantly less likely than whites with lower ability to support school busing programs and workplace racial preference policies.¹²² Findings also indicated that high-ability whites acknowledge that it is wrong to segregate communities racially, however almost half of the study group report that they would not vote for a law with the intentions of preventing prejudicial real estate practices.¹²² Wodtke discusses that these findings are consistent with the ideological refinement theory. High-ability, intelligent whites are much more suited than their low performing counterparts in protecting and maintaining their advantaged position within society.¹²² These findings might help to explain why the odds of racist tweeting are greater among counties with larger proportions of adults with a college education.

There are some strengths to this study in comparison to current literature on the topic. This is one of the first studies concerned with determining what social factors are associated with observed racism. Secondly, the study added to current literature by conducting an analysis at the county level and applying spatial and cluster analyses to identify hotspots and/or clusters of high racist tweeting. Third, the study applied a more novel method of using racist tweeting at the county level as a proxy for observed racism.

However, the study is not without its limitations. First, the study is unable to determine causality. Secondly, the study cannot determine the level of perceived racism due to the design and utilizing racist tweets as a proxy for county level racism. Third, the study is only applying a single measure of racism in lieu of an aggregate measure. The study analyzed the number of racist tweets using one trigger word in instead of applying a semantic analysis looking at a combination of words, phrases, and/or sentences. Future



studies will need to focus on quantifying the associated health effects of the observed measures of racism in combination with the county predictors tested in the study.

4.6 CONCLUSION

Rurality and unemployment rates were significant county level predictors associated with racist tweeting behavior. Rural counties are at a decreased odd of engaging in higher rates of racist tweeting, in comparison to their urban peers. The odds of greater racist tweeting behavior decreases as a county's unemployment rate increases. The latter associations were consistent across all three metrics of observed racism. Furthermore, voter turnout was significant with two measures showing a protective factor against racist tweeting behavior. There were no significant clusters of high racist tweeting observed for either measure. However, there were several significant hot spots (mainly located in Georgia, Louisiana, and South Carolina) and cold spots of racist tweeting. Future research should focus on testing the association between racist tweeting behaviors and health outcomes while controlling for the county level predictors tested in this study.



Demographics	Mean±SD	Range
Racist Tweeter Rate	3.9±16.9	0-406.5
Racist Tweet Intensity	1.8±1.6	0-18.0
Racist Tweet Rate	7.9±37.7	0-904.8
Primary Care Provider Supply	4.9±3.5	0-31.4
Hospital Bed Supply	3.0±4.2	0-40.3
Income Inequality	4.9±0.8	2.7-9.0
% College Educated Adults	18.9±9.6	6.0-75.1
%Uninsured Adults	22.7±4.1	7.4-40.7
Unemployment Rate	7.9±2.1	3.3-16.0
Census Response Rate	70.4±10.0	30.0-86.0
2012 Presidential Election Voter Turnout	68.5±6.1	35.9-84.8
% White Population	67.0±1882	13.7-98.8
% Black Population	27.6±19.3	0.1-85.7
Rurality	Frequency	%
Urban	307	47.2
Rural	344	52.8

Table 4.1 – Study Sample Characteristics at County Level (n=651)



	Estimate	OR	Intercept Q2	Intercept Q3	Intercept Q4	P-value
Rural	-0.55	0.33	1.12	-0.03	-1.16	<.0001
Primary Care Physician Supply*	0.13	1.14	1.43	-0.68	-1.78	<.0001
Income Inequality	0.02	1.02	0.90	-0.17	-1.23	0.8021
Hospital Bed Supply**	0.05	1.05	0.87	-0.22	-1.29	0.0041
% College Educated Adults	0.06	1.06	-0.05	-1.19	-2.33	<.0001
% Uninsured Adults	-0.08	0.92	2.88	1.78	0.70	<.0001
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.15	0.86	2.20	1.11	0.03	<.0001
Voter Turnout	0.01	1.01	0.14	-0.93	-1.99	0.2711
Census Response Rate	0.02	1.02	-0.34	-1.42	-2.48	0.0072
% White Population	-0.02	0.98	2.41	1.30	0.21	<.0001
% Black Population	0.01	1.01	0.67	-0.42	-1.50	0.0003

Table 4.2 – Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and the Racist Tweeter Rate

Boldface indicates significance at alpha 0.05 *Indicates a ratio per 10,000 of the county population **Indicates a ratio per 1,000 of the county population



	Estimate	OR	Intercept Q2	Intercept Q3	Intercept Q4	P-value
Rural	-0.37	0.48	0.97	-0.07	-1.17	<.0001
Primary Care Physician Supply*	0.08	1.08	0.56	-0.46	-1.55	0.0001
Income Inequality	-0.07	0.93	1.28	0.29	-0.79	0.4197
Hospital Bed Supply**	0.02	1.02	0.88	-0.11	-1.20	0.2050
% College Educated Adults	0.04	1.05	0.12	-0.93	-2.05	<.0001
% Uninsured Adults	-0.06	0.94	2.29	1.28	0.19	0.0007
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.15	0.86	2.10	1.08	-0.02	<.0001
Voter Turnout	-0.02	0.98	2.56	1.57	0.48	0.0415
Census Response Rate	0.03	1.03	-1.28	-2.31	-3.40	<.0001
% White Population	-0.00	0.99	1.23	0.23	-0.85	0.2726
% Black Population	0.00	1.00	0.94	-0.05	-1.14	0.9392

Table 4.3 – Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and Racist Tweet Intensity

Boldface indicates significance at alpha 0.05 *Indicates a ratio per 10,000 of the county population **Indicates a ratio per 1,000 of the county population



	Estimate	OR	Intercept O2	Intercept O3	Intercept O4	P-value
Rural	-0.52	0.35	1.08	-0.03	-1.19	<.0001
Primary Care Physician Supply*	0.12	1.13	0.43	-0.66	-1.79	<.0001
Income Inequality	0.03	1.03	0.84	-0.21	-1.30	0.7204
Hospital Bed Supply**	0.05	1.05	0.86	-0.20	-1.30	0.0078
% College Educated Adults	0.06	1.07	-0.13	-1.26	-2.44	<.0001
% Uninsured Adults	-0.08	0.92	2.83	1.75	0.64	<.0001
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.14	0.87	2.14	1.07	-0.03	<.0001
Voter Turnout	-0.00	0.99	1.10	0.05	-1.04	0.8926
Census Response Rate	0.02	1.02	-0.38	-1.44	-2.54	0.0061
% White Population	-0.02	0.98	2.33	1.24	0.12	<.0001
% Black Population	0.01	1.01	0.67	-0.40	-1.51	0.0006

Table 4.4–Bivariate Analysis of the Relationship between County Predictors and the Racist Tweet Rate

*Indicates a ratio per 10,000 of the county population

**Indicates a ratio per 1,000 of the county population



	Estimate	OR	STD Error	P- value	95% OR CI
Intercept Q4	9.85	-	2.66	0.0002	-
Intercept Q3	11.15	-	2.67	<.0001	-
Intercept Q2	12.44	-	2.68	<.0001	-
Rural	-0.38	0.46	0.09	<.0001	0.33-0.65
Primary Care Physician Supply	0.04	1.04	0.03	0.1634	0.98-1.11
Income Inequality	0.17	1.19	0.11	0.1222	0.96-1.47
Hospital Bed Supply	0.03	1.03	0.02	0.1256	0.99-1.07
% College Educated Adults	0.01	1.01	0.01	0.5902	0.98-1.03
% Uninsured Adults	-0.05	0.95	0.03	0.0476	0.90-1.0
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.18	0.83	0.06	0.0009	0.75-0.93
Voter Turnout	-0.01	0.99	0.01	0.5373	0.97-1.02
Census Response Rate	0.01	1.01	0.01	0.3794	0.99-1.03
% White Population	-0.12	0.89	0.02	<.0001	0.85-0.93
% Black Population	-0.08	0.93	0.02	0.0008	0.89-0.97

Table 4.5 – Model #1: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweeter Rate



	Estimate	OR	STD Error	P- value	95% OR CI
Intercept Q4	2.28	-	2.41	0.3447	-
Intercept Q3	3.43	-	2.41	0.1547	-
Intercept Q2	4.54	-	2.41	0.0598	-
Rural	-0.19	0.68	0.09	0.0230	0.49-0.95
Primary Care Physician Supply	-0.00	1.00	0.03	0.9149	0.94-1.05
Income Inequality	0.09	1.09	0.11	0.4193	0.88-1.35
Hospital Bed Supply	0.01	1.01	0.02	0.6911	0.97-1.05
% College Educated Adults	0.02	1.02	0.01	0.0619	1.00-1.05
% Uninsured Adults	0.00	1.00	0.02	0.9049	0.96-1.05
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.13	0.88	0.05	0.0137	0.79-0.97
Voter Turnout	-0.05	0.95	0.01	0.0003	0.93-0.98
Census Response Rate	0.03	1.03	0.01	0.002	0.93-1.01
% White Population	-0.03	0.97	0.02	0.1267	0.93-1.01
% Black Population	-0.01	0.99	0.02	0.5881	0.95-1.03

Table 4.6 – Model #2: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweet Intensity



	Estimate	OR	STD Error	P- value	95% OR CI
Intercept Q4	7.24	-	2.54	0.0043	-
Intercept Q3	8.56	-	2.54	0.0008	-
Intercept Q2	9.83	-	2.55	0.0001	-
Rural	-0.34	0.50	0.09	<.0001	0.36-0.71
Primary Care Physician Supply	0.04	1.04	0.03	0.1715	0.98-1.10
Income Inequality	0.12	1.12	0.11	0.2958	0.90-1.39
Hospital Bed Supply	0.02	1.02	0.02	0.2356	0.99-1.06
% College Educated Adults	0.03	1.03	0.01	0.0396	1.00-1.05
% Uninsured Adults	-0.03	0.97	0.03	0.2973	0.93-1.02
Average Unemployment Rate	-0.20	0.82	0.06	0.0002	0.73-0.91
Voter Turnout	-0.03	0.97	0.01	0.0230	0.95-1.00
Census Response Rate	0.01	1.01	0.01	0.3284	1.00-1.03
% White Population	-0.08	0.92	0.02	0.0001	0.89-0.96
% Black Population	-0.04	0.96	0.02	0.0740	0.92-1.00

Table 4.7 – Model #3: Adjusted Analysis of County Predictors associated with Racist Tweet Rate





Figure 4.1 – Racist Tweeter Rate Across Counties





Figure 4.2 – Racist Tweet Intensity Across Counties




Figure 4.3 – Racist Tweet Rate Across Counties





Figure 4.4 – Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweeter Rate





Figure 4.5 – Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweet Intensity





Figure 4.6 – Hot Spots/Cold Spots of Racist Tweet Rate



www.manaraa.com

CHAPTER 5

MANUSCRIPT 2

"OBSERVED RACISM ON TWITTER AND BLACK MORTLAITY IN THE AMERICAN SOUTH: THE INFLUENCE OF RURALITY"²

5.1 ABSTRACT

Racial discrimination or racism can be understood as a determinant of population health. Exposure to racism is associated with a myriad of poor mental and physical health outcomes including, depression, anxiety, psychological distress, alcoholism, smoking, hypertension, and diabetes. Exposure to racism comes in two forms; expressed or observed. The relationship between county level observed racism and associated health effects across levels of rurality is currently unknown. The purpose of this study is to investigate if a relationship between observed racism and black mortality exists at the county level and across rurality in the American south.

Data was retrospectively combined from Twitter, the 2015-2016 Area Health Resource File (AHRF), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiological Research (CDC WONDER), and the 2017 Robert Wood Johnson (RWJ) County Health Rankings. The sample population consisted of 653 counties across seven southern states; Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia,

² Bullard, J. T., Probst, J. C., Hair, N., Eberth, J. M., Ingram, L. A. To be submitted to the Journal of Rural Health



Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. Geotagged tweets containing the racial slur "n*gger(s)" between the years of 2012-2015 were defined as racist and were used in calculating three county level measures of observed racism; racist tweeter rate, racist tweet intensity, and racist tweet rate. Rurality was defined according to the 2013 Rural-Urban Continuum Codes (RUCC). Generalized linear regression modeling was used to test the association between each measure of observed racism and the gender combined, all-cause and age-adjusted black mortality rate while controlling for socioeconomic characteristics and factors affecting access to care.

Racist tweeting for all measures was found to be significant with black mortality. Rural areas experience increased rates of black mortality by an estimated 32 units in comparison to their urban counterparts. However, there was no significant interaction between rurality and racist tweeting which indicates that rurality does not influence the relationship between racist tweeting and black mortality. Education was a protective factor as predicted black mortality rates decreased by 2 units as the percent of college educated adults increased. Also across all models, black mortality was predicted to be 67, 9, and 11 units higher with every one unit increase in a county's income inequality ratio, hospital bed capacity, and unemployment rate, respectively.

The frequency of racist tweets measured as a rate of the county population has a significant negative relationship with county level black mortality. Furthermore, as the proportion of racist tweets posted by Twitter users in a county increases, so does the associated black mortality rate. Rurality and socioeconomic factors continue to be significant predictors of health outcomes giving way to health disparities.



5.2 INTRODUCTION

Racial discrimination can be conceptualized as a determinant of population health.⁵⁷ According to Krieger, there are five pathways to the embodiment of racism: economic and social deprivation, toxic substances and hazardous conditions, socially inflicted trauma, targeted marketing of legal and illegal psychoactive and other substances, and inadequate health care.⁵⁷ Ones response to discrimination can be either protective (active resistance) or harmful (suppressing the acts of discrimination).⁵⁷ Exposure to racism comes in two forms either experienced (perceived) or observed. Ample evidence suggests that exposure to racial discrimination through expression or perception is associated with poor mental health outcomes such as depression, anxiety, and psychological stress.^{23,24,75,76} Experienced racism has also been found to be associated with smoking, binge drinking, and a myriad of poor health outcomes like hypertension, low birth weight delivery, and diabetes.^{25,26,61,81} Stress tends to be a potential pathway linking experiences with racism to individual health and wellbeing. Clark and colleagues⁶⁶ posit a model explaining that the perception of an environmental stimulus as racist evokes a series of psychological and physiological responses which are influenced by constitutional factors, sociodemographic factors, psychological and behavioral factors, and coping mechanisms.

Most of the current literature on racism and health has been conducted with the loci on understanding the associated health effects of experienced racism only and without taking into account geographical influences. Although, some recent studies using observed measures of racism have generated findings indicating that the most racist places in America tend to be rural areas in the Northeast and the South in states like



Maryland, District of Columbia, Virginia, North Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, and parts of Tennessee, and Mississippi.^{27,28} However, current literature lacks the quantification of observed racism across rurality and its effects on health. The association of health and observed racism across rural and urban areas is expected to differ since these areas look and behave differently. Rural areas rank poorly on health indicators, including mortality, morbidity, and child health measures.^{30–32} Compared to urbanized residents, rural residents experience higher death rates from unintentional injuries, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and suicide.³² Health behaviors also vary widely across rurality. Rural populations smoke more, exercise less, consume less nutritious diets, and are more likely to obese than their suburban and urban counterparts. Looking at racial discrimination across rurality, there are some similarities. Much like their metropolitan counterparts, nonmetropolitan blacks are the nation's most highly segregated minority.³⁹ Lichter and associates highlight there is a direct relationship between racial residential segregation and the proportion of minorities throughout rural areas.³⁹ Residential segregation in urban areas was brought on by establishment of the 1934 Federal Housing Act (FHA) and the notions that minorities like blacks in white neighborhoods would result in decreases property values and subsequent neighborhood deterioration.¹⁰

Due to the variation between urban and rural areas, it can be expected that the effects of exposure to observed racism within each can vary. The purpose of this study is to quantify the differences in county level effects of observed racism on all-cause black mortality across rurality, by way of exposure to racism through the use of racial slurs on a popular social media platform. Additionally, given the history of racism in the American South and its demographic homogeneity, the study will focus on a sample population



from the South.^{94,95,97} The findings of this study hope to quantify geographical differences in exposure to racism and subsequent health effects.

5.3 METHODS

5.3.1 POPULATION AND DATA SOURCES

The total sample consisted of 653 counties across the seven included states of Virginia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Georgia, Alabama, Mississippi, and Louisiana. There was a total of 36,490 racist tweets across 615 of the sampled counties. Tweets were generated by 16,303 Twitter users. A total of 33 counties were removed from the sample as their black mortality rates were too small to report leaving a final sample totaling 620 counties. Data for this study was retrospectively combined from four data sources; Twitter, the Area Health Resource File (AHRF), the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Wide-ranging Online Data for Epidemiological Research (CDC WONDER), and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (RWJF) County Health Rankings.

5.3.2 DEPENDENT VARIABLE

The outcome variable, age-adjusted and gender combined all-cause black mortality rates, were obtained from CDC WONDER. CDC WONDER is an online repository of public health data from a variety of sources like surveys and surveillance systems. Users of CDC WONDER are able to query data via menus and view it in textual or tabular form. CDC WONDER allowed for easy tabulation of the outcome variable averaged across the study time-frame (2012-2015).

5.3.3 INDEPENDENT VARIABLES

Because of anonymity, online outlets like social websites, blogs, and YouTube channels have become breeding grounds for racism as expressed in racial slurs like



"n*gger," and hate speech.^{64,65,92} Therefore, online modalities like Twitter act as good proxies for measuring expressed, observable racism.^{104,105}

Twitter data for the study was provided by the Data on Local Life and You (or DOLLY) Project housed at the University of Kentucky. The DOLLY project served the purpose in developing a very robust server-based data mining system along with the advantages of ad hoc desktop applications and small, relevant datasets to capture and store all geotagged tweets in the world, dating back to June 2012.⁹⁸ These tweets are captured by using a 1-percent and 10-percent Streaming API and are indexed based upon location and month upon capture allowing for accurate and relatively quick search and extraction across the system.⁹⁸ Tweets containing the racial slur "n*gger(s)" were extracted from the DOLLY system at the county level for the seven southern states. Tweets were extracted over the time-frame of July 2012 – December 2015. Tweets beyond December 31, 2015 were not extracted due to the racial tension surrounding the 2016 Presidential race. A racist tweet was defined as one that contained the racial slur "nigger" in either its plural or singular form.

Three measures of observed racism were calculated in the study. The racist tweeter rate was calculated as the number of racist tweeters divided by the county population (averaged between 2012-2015) multiplied by 10,000. Racist tweet intensity was calculated using the number of racist tweets per tweeter for each county then multiplied by 10,000. The racist tweet rate was calculated by dividing the number of racist tweets by the average 2012-2015 county population then multiplied by 10,000. For modeling purposes, each independent variable was split into quartiles at the 25th, 50th, 75th, and > 75th percentile. The cutoff values for the racist tweeter rate quartiles were



1.57, 2.67, 4.06, > 4.06, for Q1 – Q4, respectively. Cutoff values for Q1 – Q4 of the racist tweet intensity were 1.00, 1.48, 1.93, and > 1.93, respectively. Q1 – Q4 cutoff values for the racist tweet rate measure was 2.17, 4.02, 7.28, and > 7.28, respectively. A bivariate, color saturated map of the racist tweeter rate and racist tweet intensity was generated to show variation of racist tweeting across counties and levels of rurality. The color red was used to show urban counties while the color gray was used for rural counties. Each shade of color darkened moving from Q1 to Q4 across the sample.

Rurality (rural vs. urban), was defined according to the 2013 Rural-Urban Continuum Codes (RUCC).¹⁰⁶ RUCC forms a classification scheme that distinguishes metropolitan counties by the population size of their metro area, and nonmetropolitan counties by degree of urbanization and adjacency to a metro area. Each county in the U.S. is assigned a code ranging from 1 (Counties in metro areas of 1 million population or more) to 9 (Completely rural or less than 2,500 urban population, not adjacent to a metro area.¹⁰⁶ County level RUCC codes were provided by the most recent 2015-2016 AHRF. The AHRF is a county-based data system that assess the nation's health care resources. It covers over 200 sources of data and is released annually. Rurality was categorized into two levels in the study; urban (RUCC codes 1-3) and rural (RUCC codes 4-9).

5.3.4 CONTROL VARIABLES

Additional county level socioeconomic variables and factors influencing access to care were controlled for in the study. These control variables included: education (% of county population with a college degree, 2010-2014); unemployment rate (averaged 2012-2015); health insurance (percent of persons aged 18-64 without health insurance, 2013); primary care physician (PCP) supply per county (average number of PCPs divided



by average county population and multiplied by 10,000, 2012-2014); and hospital bed supply (number of hospital beds per county divided by the county population and multiplied by 10,000, 2013). The latter variables were also pulled from the 2015-2016 AHRF. An additional sociodemographic factor, income inequality, was obtained from the 2017 RWJF County Health Rankings. Income inequality is measured as the ratio of household income at the 80th percentile to that at the 20th percentile from 2011-2015. A higher ratio indicates greater segregation between top end and bottom end of the income spectrum in a county. The percent of the white and black population was averaged from 2012-2015 and acted as controls in the study to account for the proportion of each across counties.

5.3.5 ANALYSIS

Association between the outcome and observed racism was tested using multiple linear regression and generalized linear modeling. The coefficients for black mortality were estimated as one unit changes. Coefficients were reported and interpreted at 95% Confidence Intervals and p-values at alpha (0.05). Three models testing each independent measurement of observed racism (racist tweeter rate, racist tweet intensity, racist tweet rate) and the interaction between rurality and each measure of observed racism were ran independently to determine association of each and were compared for overall model fit and explanation of variation using F-statistic and R-squared values. All analyses were carried out using SAS 9.4 (Cary, North Carolina) and ArcMap 10.2.2 (Redlands, California).



5.4 RESULTS

The mean and standard deviation of the county level descriptors across the sample are reported in Table 1. The mean black mortality rate was 1207.5 (\pm 263.0) The mean rate for the three measures of observed racism, racist tweeter rate, racist tweet intensity, racist tweet rate, was 4.1 (\pm 17.3), 1.8 (\pm 1.6), and 8.2 (\pm 38.6), respectively. The levels of rurality across the sample is reported as frequency and percent in Table 1. The majority of counties were classified as being rural (52%) while the remaining 48% was classified as urban. The mean primary care provider and hospital bed to population ratios for the sample counties was 4.8 (\pm 3.4) and 3.1 (\pm 4.1) respectively. In assessing the socioeconomic factors across the sample population, the mean income inequality ratio, percent of college educated and uninsured adults, and the unemployment rate was 4.9 (\pm 0.8), 19.0 (\pm 9.7), 22.7 (\pm 4.0), and 7.9 (\pm 2.1), respectively. The mean percent of whites and blacks across the sample population was 65.6 (\pm 18.2) and 28.8 (\pm 18.8), respectively.

Table 2 shows the mean racist tweeter rate, racist tweet intensity, and racist tweet rate across rurality. The rates between urban and rural areas are very similar for all measures of racism. The mean racist tweeter rate for urban and rural counties is 4.1 ± 7.2 and 4.1 ± 23.0 , respectively. The mean racist tweet intensity for urban and rural counties is 1.9 ± 1.6 and 1.7 ± 1.6 , respectively. The mean racist tweet rate for urban and rural counties is 8.4 ± 17.0 and 8.0 ± 51.1 . When comparing tweet rates for all three measures between urban and rural counties, there is no significant difference.

Table 3 shows the results of a simple bivariate analysis of the age-adjusted black mortality rate across levels of rurality. Rural counties experience a statistically higher



mean black mortality rate of 1257.3±195.0 (<.0001) in comparison to their urban counterparts which experience a mean black mortality rate of 1139.8±195.1.

Table 4 shows the results of a bivariate analysis of the relationship between rurality and county level predictors of mortality. Significant differences between urban and rural were found for each county level predictor, except for hospital bed supply. The mean for predictors of mortality worsened moving across levels of rurality with rural counties experiencing higher income inequality ratios $(5.1\pm0.8, <.0001)$ lower percentile of college educated adults $(14.9\pm5.5, <.0001)$, a higher percentile of uninsured adults $(24.1\pm3.5, <.0001)$ and a higher unemployment rate $(8.9\pm2.1, <.0001)$. Rural counties also experienced lower percentiles of whites $(62.3\pm19.4, <.0001)$ and higher percentiles of blacks $(33.2\pm20.0, <.0001)$, in comparison to their urban counterparts.

Figure 1 shows a bivariate mapping of rurality and the racist tweeter rate for each county across the sample. Rurality was dichotomized into two levels; urban (RUCC codes 1-3) and rural (RUCC codes 4-9) for each map. Most of the counties were categorized in the lower quartile (Q1) of the racist tweeter rate measure with rural (20.9%) making up the majority while only 7.4% of counties in Q1 were urban. The sample consisted of 10.8% urban counties and 14.1% rural counties categorized in Q2. Counties categorized in quartile 3 made up 23.8% of the sample with 12.1% urban and 11.7% rural. The sample consisted of 7.7% of rural counties categorized as having racist tweet rates in the highest quartile (Q4) while 16.9% of the sample were urban counties with racist tweet rates observed in the highest quartile. Rural clusters of high racist tweeter rates can be observed in western parts of Louisiana (Sabine and Natchitoches



parishes), southern Alabama (Macon, Bullock, Pike, and Crenshaw counties) and eastern parts of South Carolina (Georgetown, Marion, and Williamsburg counties).

Figure 2 is a bivariate map depicting racist tweet intensity across rurality. Once again, rurality was categorized into two levels for this map; Urban (RUCC codes 1-3) and Rural (RUCC codes 4-9). The majority of the sample (27.9%) was categorized in the lower quartile (Q1) of racist tweet intensity with 20.7% rural and 7.2% urban. Quartile 2 of the racist tweet intensity measure made up 23.2% of the sample, with 11.8% urban and 11.4% rural. Counties categorized in quartile 3 made up 24.4% of the sample, 16.1% urban and 8.3% rural. The sample contained 12.0% urban counties and 12.4% rural counties categorized in the highest quartile (Q4) of the racist tweet intensity measure. Clusters of rural counties with tweet intensity levels in the highest quartile (Q4) can be observed in northern Mississippi (Lee, Chickasaw, Webster, Choctaw, Oktibbeha, and Winston counties) and southern Alabama (Escambia, Conecuh, Covington, and Coffee counties).

Figure 3 shows a bivariate mapping of rurality and the racist tweet rate across the sample. The majority of the sample (36.1%) were categorized in the lowest quartile (Q1) of racist tweet rates, 16.7% urban and 19.4% rural. Quartile 2 made up 24.4% of the sample with 10.4% urban counties and 14.0% rural. Quartile 3 also made up 24.4% of the sample population; 13.0% urban and 11.4% rural. The highest quartile of racist tweet rates (Q4) made up 24.1% of the sample population, with 16.0% urban counties and 8.1% rural.

The results of modeling each measure of observed racism with black mortality is shown in Tables 4, 5, and 6. Table 5 is model 1 which tests the association between



mortality and the racist tweeter rate. Quartile 4 of the racist tweeter rate measurement is found to be significantly associated with the black mortality rate. The estimated difference in black mortality between the lowest (Q1) and highest (Q4) quartile of racist tweeters is 66.6 (0.0423). Looking across levels of rurality, there is an estimated difference of 71.6 (0.0269) in the mean black mortality rate between rural counties and urban counties, with rural counties experiencing increased mortality rates. There was no significant interaction found between rurality and the racist tweeter rate suggesting that the relationship between tweeting and mortality is not affected by rurality. Income inequality and the supply of primary care physicians and hospital beds was associated with black mortality. For every one unit increase in a county's income inequality ratio, primary care physician to population ratio, and hospital bed to population ratio, a 66.7 (<.0001), 5.4 (0.0490), and 8.5 (<.0001) unit increase in black mortality is predicted, respectively. Education is significant in predicting county level black mortality rates. For every one unit increase in a county's percent of college educated adults, there is a 2.9 (0.0150) unit decrease in the black mortality rate. A one unit increase in the unemployment rate is associated with a predicted 11.4 (0.0328) unit increase in the black mortality rate at the county level. Also, for every one unit increase in a county's percent of white and black population, a 6.7 (0.0008) and 6.0 (0.0032) unit increase in the black mortality rate is expected. The F-statistic for model 1 was 17.3 (<.0001) which suggested a good model fit. The R-squared for model 1 indicated that 30.0% of the variation in the outcome was explained by the model.

Model 2 results testing the association between racist tweet intensity and black mortality is shown in table 6. There is an association found between the racist tweet



intensity and black mortality. The mean difference in black mortality between county level observed racist tweet intensity rates at the 25th (O1), 50th (O2), and 75th (O3) percentile is 70.4 (0.0383) and 67.9 (0.0360), respectively, with Q2 and Q3 categorized counties experiencing increased mortality rates in comparison to Q1 categorized counties. Rurality continued to remain significant as the mean difference in the black mortality rate between moderately rural and urban counties was 72.3 (0.0219). There was no significant interaction found between rurality and racist tweet intensity suggesting that rurality does not influence the relationship between racist tweet intensity and black mortality at the county level. Similar to model 1, county level descriptors (income inequality, hospital bed supply, college education, unemployment rate, percent of whites and blacks) also remained significant showing similar relationships with black mortality as observed in model 1 except for primary care physician supply. There was no significant association between the primary care physician to population ratio and black mortality in model 2. Model fit for model 2 was good with a F-statistic of 17.6 (<.0001). The R-squared value for model 2 indicated that 30.4% of the variation in black mortality is explained by the model.

The results of the third model testing the association between the third measure of observed racism, racist tweet rate, and the outcome is shown in table 7. The model suggested an association between racist tweet rates and black mortality moving between counties in all quartiles of the racist tweet rate measure. There is a predicted difference of 66.7 (0.0464), 84.2 (0.0102), and 76.0 (0.0216) in the mean black mortality rate between counties with observed racist tweet rates ranked in quartiles 2, 3, and 4 verses those ranked in quartile 1, respectively. The difference in the mean black mortality rate



between rural counties and urban counties was 87.4 (0.0060). There is no predicted influence on the relationship between racist tweet rates and black mortality moving between levels of rurality as there was no significant interaction found between rurality and racist tweet rates. Similar associations between county level predictors (income inequality, hospital bed supply, college education, unemployment, percent of whites and blacks) and black mortality as were seen in models 1 and 2 were also observed in model 3. The primary care provider to population ratio once regained significance showing a similar association as observed in model 1. Model fit and explanation of variation for model 3 was very similar to that of models 1 and 2. The F-statistic for model 3 was 17.6 (<.0001). The R-squared value for model 3 suggested that 30.4% of variation in black mortality can be explained by the model.

5.5 DISCUSSION

The findings in this study do not indicate any influence on the relationship between the black mortality rate and racist tweeting as no significant interaction was found between rurality racist tweeting. This latter finding indicates that racist tweeting does not account for the difference in the age-adjusted black mortality rates between urban and rural counties. However, findings indicate that when accounting for levels of rurality in the US South, there is a significant association between black mortality and racist tweeting when moving from lower to higher quartiles of racist tweeting. Counties categorized with observed racist tweeting in the upper quartiles are experiencing increased means of black mortality, in comparison to their lower quartile counterparts. Furthermore, there were significant differences in associated black mortality rates across levels of rurality with more rural areas faring worse in predicted black mortality rates.



This is one of the first studies looking at the county level effects of racism and accounting for the influence of rurality. Differences in the perception of racial fairness might help to explain these findings. A 2013 survey conducted by the Pew Research Center suggested a large and consistent black-white gap in perception of fair treatment. Blacks are more likely than whites to say African Americans are treated less fairly than whites.¹²³ Out of seven measured categories (police, court system, the workplace, stores and restaurants, public schools, the health care system, and elections) 49% of whites do not see unfair treatment in any of the seven categories while 58% of blacks say at least four of these are unfair.¹²³ In assessing rural and urban differences, urban adults, regardless of race, are more likely to observe racial inequality in each of the seven categories, in comparison to those living in rural areas. A study by the Washington Post Kaiser Family Foundation also found similar results to that of the Pew Research Center survey. When asked, "Which of these do you think is the bigger problem in this county: blacks and Hispanics losing out because of preferences for whites, or whites losing out because of preferences for blacks and Hispanics?", rural whites were less likely (by 14.1 units) than urban whites to say they are more concerned about blacks and Hispanics losing out.¹²⁴ The survey also found differences between blacks and whites within rural areas. Many rural Americans express a sense of shared identity that serves as a connection between rural Americans. However, these differ between white and minority rural populations. While 78% of white rural residents agree there is a sense of shared identity, this percentile drops to 64% and 55% for Hispanics and blacks, respectively.¹²⁴ The findings from these surveys indicate that rural whites are less likely to perceive and/or show concern for inequality and racial discrimination, when compared to white



www.manaraa.com

urbanites suggesting a difference in attitudes, beliefs, and values. Blacks in rural areas are also less likely to report a sense of shared identity with their rural peers in comparison to their rural white counterparts which suggests that blacks in rural areas lose a sense of connection that so many rural residents resonate with. The differences in the beliefs and values between whites and blacks living in urban and rural areas might explain why there is an increased black mortality rate in rural areas and why increased levels of observed racism is associated with increased black mortality rates. The rural, white privileged are less concerned with the way blacks feel and perceive discrimination and possibly don't consider the potential side effects of their actions. This no-care attitude might also warrant increased levels of discrimination via tweets with racial slurs and hate speech on Twitter and other sites.

These findings are also somewhat similar to those from another recent study. Chae et al. found a significant association between googling the ""nigger"." and area level black mortality rates. Among 210 Nielsen Media Research designated market areas (DMAs), the proportion of google searches containing the ""nigger"." was associated with higher rates of black mortality. These studies differed in nature considering that Chae and colleagues utilized google search phrases as their measure of racism while this study employed tweets as the measure of racism. Chae et al. also defined the sample as Nielsen Media Research designated areas while the sample in this study was analyzed at the county level.

Similar to current literature, rurality remains a significant predictor in black mortality rates.^{125–127} Singh and Siahpush¹²⁶ find that mortality rates in the US increased with increasing levels of rurality overall and for some minority populations, including:



non-Hispanic whites, blacks, and American Indians/Alaska Natives. Although overall mortality trends have been declining over time, mortality risks for males, females, blacks, and whites have been increasingly higher in non-metropolitan areas, in comparison to their metropolitan counterparts.¹²⁶ Furthermore, the gap between black and white mortality continues to widen. James and Cossman¹²⁷ find that the most advantageous regions of mortality for blacks exhibit higher mortality than the most disadvantageous regions for whites. Clusters of rural high mortality throughout the US can be found in the Black Belt, Appalachia, Mississippi valley and Delta Region.¹²⁸ Given the findings of the study, differences in racist tweeting rates across counties might help to explain some of the variation in mortality. Urbanite and suburbanites are more likely to use Twitter when compared to their rural counterparts.⁸⁷ These findings were also suggestive of this given that the majority of racist tweeting originated from urban counties. However, observed racist tweeting was similar across urban and rural populations in the study.

Our findings also mirror current literature that finds socioeconomic factors like education and income inequality to be associated with overall health and mortality.^{112,129,130} The study findings indicated that a higher income inequality ratio within a county is associated with increased mortality rates. Lynch and colleagues¹²⁹ found a similar association in that areas with high income inequality and low average income had excess mortality of 139.8 deaths per 100,000 compared to areas with low income inequality and high income. Education was also found to be significant in each of the models indicating that the percentage of college-educated adults is associated with lower rates of mortality. However, current studies like Muller¹³⁰, find that the effect of



income inequality disappeared in a model once the proportion of people without a high school diploma was added, suggesting that lack of a high school education accounts for the income inequality effect. These findings indicate that even when accounting for racist tweeting across counties and rurality, education and income remain significant predictors for all-cause black mortality suggesting opportunities for improvement by way of upstream efforts addressing social determinants of health.

Factors affecting access to care, like the primary care provider supply and hospital bed supply ratios, were not associated with improved rates of mortality across counties. Both the supply of primary care physicians and hospital beds within a county were negatively associated with black mortality as findings suggested that increased ratios resulted in increased black mortality rates. These results mirror some of the current literature. Fisher and colleagues¹³¹ find that the per capita supply of hospital beds is associated with greater utilization by 30% among Medicare beneficiaries. Furthermore, inpatient hospitalization and deaths are significantly higher in areas with greater hospital capacity after controlling for socioeconomic characteristics and burden of disease.¹³¹ Fisher and associates did not find a significant decreased risk of death or benefit in mortality in areas with greater hospital capacity or increased utilization¹³¹. These findings suggest that utilization and subsequent death increases as resources increase. This might explain why there is a significant negative association between primary care physician and hospital bed supply ratios and mortality. In looking at the association between physical distance to a healthcare facility and mortality, Ohio, Yamashita and Kunkel¹¹⁵ found an association between access to care (measured by physical distance to hospitals) and heart disease mortality, but the association became insignificant when accounting for



socioeconomic and socio-demographic factors. This evidence further warrants the opportunity to address the social determinants of health to mitigate health disparities in indicators like mortality across populations.

There are some strengths to the design and approach of the study. This is one of the first studies concerned with ascertaining a geographic rurality influence on the association of area level racism and mortality at the county level. Secondly, the study added to current literature on the effects of racism by applying a health services approach by controlling for access to care and socioeconomic factors. Third, the study utilized a more novel method with the number of racist tweets containing a racial slur at the county level as a proxy for racism.

However, the study is not without its limitations. First, the study is unable to determine causality between county level exposure to racism and black mortality across levels of rurality due to applying a cross sectional analysis. Secondly, the study cannot determine the level of perceived racism due to the design and utilizing racist tweets as a proxy for county level effects. Third, the study used one trigger word in instead of applying a semantic analysis looking at a combination of words, phrases, and/or sentences or their use in a derogatory manner.

5.6 CONCLUSION

County level racist tweeting rates are found to be significantly associated with age-adjusted black mortality rates. These associations remain when adjusting for levels of rurality and accounting for socioeconomic differences at the county level. Rurality, however, does not explain or influence the relationship between racist tweeting and black mortality. There is no significant variability in the prevalence of using racial slurs in



tweets across rural and urban counties tested in the study. Rurality continues to be a significant predictor of mortality with rural counties faring worse. Evidence discussed here as well as current studies warrants the importance of focusing on social determinants of health in minding the gap in mortality. However, our findings also suggest that consideration should be given to observed racism. Greater exposure to observed racism might account for mortality disparities between races. Future research should explore this relationship further.



www.manaraa.com

	Mean±SD	Range
Black Mortality Rate	1200.8±203.6	473.1-1931.8
Racist Tweeter Rate	4.1±17.3	0-406.5
Racist Tweet Intensity	1.8±1.6	0-18.0
Racist Tweet Rate	8.2±38.6	0-904.8
Level of Rurality	Frequency(n)	Percent(%)
Urban	298	48.1
Rural	322	51.9
County Level Predictors	Mean±SD	Range
Primary Care Provider Supply	4.8±3.4	0-31.0
Hospital Bed Supply	3.1±4.1	0-40.3
Income Inequality	4.9±0.8	2.7-9.0
% College Educated Adults	18.9±9.7	6.0-75.1
%Uninsured Adults	22.7±4.0	7.4-37.9
Unemployment Rate	7.9±2.1	3.3-16.0
% White Population	65.6±18.2	13.7-97.8
% Black Population	28.8±18.8	0.8-85.7

Table 5.1 – County Level Characteristics of Study Sample (n=620)



Table 5.2 – Mean Racist Tweets and Tweeters AcrossLevels of Rurality (Mean±SD)			
	Urban	Rural	

Racist Tweeter Rate	4.1±7.2	4.0±23.0
Racist Tweet Intensity	1.9±1.6	1.7±1.6
Racist Tweet Rate	8.4±17.0	8.0±51.1

*Indicates statistical difference between urban and all rural at alpha 0.05



(mean $DD)$			
	Mean Black	SD	P-value
	Mortality Rate		
Urban	1139.8	195.1	<.0001
Rural*	1257.3	195.0	

Table 5.3 – Mean Black Mortality Rate Across Levels of Rurality (Mean±SD)

*Indicates statistical difference between urban and rural at alpha 0.05



	Total	Urban	Rural	P-value
		01.000		
Primary Care Provider Supply*	4.8±3.4	5.6±4.1	4.1±2.4	<.0001
Hospital Bed Supply	3.1±4.1	2.9±4.6	3.2±3.7	0.2642
Income Inequality*	4.9±0.8	4.7±0.8	5.1±0.8	<.0001
% College Educated Adults*	18.9±9.7	23.4±11.3	14.9±5.5	<.0001
% Uninsured Adults*	22.7±4.0	21.1±4.0	24.1±3.5	<.0001
Unemployment Rate*	7.9±2.1	6.9±1.6	8.9±2.1	<.0001
% White Population*	65.6±18.2	69.2±16.1	62.3±19.4	<.0001
% Black Population*	28.8±18.8	24.2±16.2	33.2±20.0	<.0001

Table 5.4 – Bivariate Analysis of Relationship between Rurality and Predictors of Mortality

*Indicates statistical difference between urban and all rural at alpha 0.05



	Estimate	STD Error	P-value	95% CI
Intercept	28.9	222.7	0.8967	-408.5-466.4
Racist Tweeter Rate Q2	45.2	33.6	0.1791	-20.8-111.2
Racist Tweeter Rate Q3	63.2	33.0	0.0562	-1.7-128.1
Racist Tweeter Rate Q4	66.6	32.7	0.0423	2.3-130.9
Racist Tweeter Rate Q1	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Rural	71.6	32.3	0.0269	8.2-135.0
Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweeter Rate Q2*Rural	-47.0	41.8	0.2614	-129.1-35.1
Racist Tweeter Rate Q2*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweeter Rate Q3*Rural	-40.9	41.8	0.3292	-123.0-41.3
Racist Tweeter Rate Q3*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweeter Rate Q4*Rural	-67.1	43.4	0.1230	-152.4-18.2
Racist Tweeter Rate Q4*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweeter Rate Q1*Rural	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweeter Rate Q1*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Primary Care Physician Supply	5.4	2.7	0.0490	0.0-10.8
Income Inequality	66.7	10.3	<.0001	46.4-87.1
Hospital Bed Supply	8.5	1.9	<.0001	4.9-12.2
% College Educated Adults	-2.9	1.2	0.0150	-5.3-(-0.6)
% Uninsured Adults	3.4	2.5	0.1722	-1.5-8.4
Unemployment Rate	11.4	5.3	0.0328	0.9-21.8
% White Population	6.7	2.0	0.0008	2.8-10.7
% Black Population	6.0	2.0	0.0032	2.0-9.9

Table 5.5 – Model #1: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweeter Rate, Rurality, and Black Mortality

Boldface indicates significance at alpha 0.05

	Estimate	STD Error	P-value	95% CI
Intercept	70.9	219.2	0.7463	-359.5-501.4
Racist Tweet Intensity Q2	70.4	33.9	0.0383	3.8-137.0
Racist Tweet Intensity Q3	67.9	32.3	0.0360	4.4-131.3
Racist Tweet Intensity Q4	48.0	34.0	0.1583	-18.8-114.9
Racist Tweet Intensity Q1	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Rural	72.3	31.5	0.0219	10.5-134.1
Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Intensity Q2*Rural	-77.8	42.2	0.0652	-160.7-4.9
Racist Tweet Intensity Q2*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Intensity Q3*Rural	-25.4	42.8	0.5539	-109.5-58.8
Racist Tweet Intensity Q3*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Intensity Q4*Rural	-41.3	42.0	0.3259	-123.9-41.2
Racist Tweet Intensity Q4*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Intensity Q1*Rural	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Intensity Q1*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Primary Care Physician Supply	4.6	2.8	0.0950	-0.8-10.0
Income Inequality	65.4	10.3	<.0001	45.2-85.5
Hospital Bed Supply	8.8	1.8	<.0001	5.2-12.4
% College Educated Adults	-2.9	1.2	0.0148	-5.3-(-0.6)
% Uninsured Adults	3.0	2.5	0.2331	-1.9-7.9
Unemployment Rate	10.9	5.3	0.0383	0.6-21.4
% White Population	6.4	2.0	0.0011	2.6-10.3
% Black Population	5.9	2.0	0.0035	1.9-9.8

Table 5.6 – Model #2: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweet Intensity, Rurality, and Black Mortality

Boldface indicates significance at alpha 0.05

	Estimate	STD Error	P-value	95% CI
Intercept	-9.1	223.1	0.9676	-447.2-429.0
Racist Tweet Rate Q2	66.7	33.4	0.0464	1.1-132.3
Racist Tweet Rate Q3	84.2	32.7	0.0102	20.0-148.3
Racist Tweet Rate Q4	76.0	33.0	0.0216	11.2-140.9
Racist Tweet Rate Q1	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Rural	87.4	31.7	0.0060	25.1-149.7
Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Rate Q2*Rural	-73.3	41.5	0.0779	-154.9-8.2
Racist Tweet Rate Q2*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Rate Q3*Rural	-63.8	41.6	0.1255	-145.5-17.9
Racist Tweet Rate Q3*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Rate Q4*Rural	-76.1	43.1	0.0779	-160.8-8.5
Racist Tweet Rate Q4*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Rate Q1*Rural	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Racist Tweet Rate Q1*Urban	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.
Primary Care Physician Supply	5.4	2.7	0.0475	0.1-10.8
Income Inequality	64.8	10.2	<.0001	44.7-85.0
Hospital Bed Supply	8.6	1.9	<.0001	4.9-12.2
% College Educated Adults	-3.0	1.2	0.0144	-5.4-(-0.6)
% Uninsured Adults	3.4	2.5	0.1693	-1.5-8.3
Unemployment Rate	11.1	5.3	0.0380	0.6-21.5
% White Population	7.1	2.0	0.0004	3.2-11.0
% Black Population	6.4	2.0	0.0017	2.4-10.4

Table 7 – Model #3: Adjusted Association between Racist Tweet Rate, Rurality, and Black Mortality

Boldface indicates significance at alpha 0.0





Figure 5.1 – County Racist Tweeter Rates Across Levels of Rurality





Figure 5.2 – County Racist Tweet Intensity Across Levels of Rurality



www.manaraa.com



Figure 5.3 – County Racist Tweet Rate Across Levels of Rurality



CHAPTER 6

CONCLUDING REMARKS

6.1 SUMMARY

Racial discrimination and racism is not novel to society. It is a part of US history influencing culture and way of live throughout time. The effects of racism on health are well documented showing that exposure to racism can lead to poor mental and physical health outcomes. Individuals can be exposed to racism through an array of pathways including occupation, healthcare, government, and more recently, the internet. Evidence documents that the internet and social media websites like Twitter have become breeding grounds for racial discrimination and hate speech. Since evidence suggests that racism influences poor health, it is important to understand the subsequent effects of racism.

Current literature prior to this study has primarily focused on ascertaining the associated health effects of experienced or perceived racism. The geographic distribution of observed racism and the health effects of observed racism like that which takes place on Twitter, is understudied. Furthermore, geographic influence on the association of effects of observed racism at the county level and across rurality was unknown. This study sought out to mind this gap in the literature with the purpose of ascertaining a relationship between observed racism on twitter and black mortality at the county level and to determine if rurality influenced the relationship and to explore the geographic distribution of observed racism.



Findings in this study indicates hotspots of observed racist tweeting behavior in Georgia in South Carolina. Rural areas are less likely to engage in racist tweeting, in comparison to their urban counterparts When accounting for rurality, there is a significant association between observed racism and black mortality. Counties in the higher quartile of racist tweeting experience increased black mortality rates in comparison to their counterparts in the lowest quartile of racist tweeting. Socioeconomic factors like education and income inequality also remain significant in predicting black mortality, further contributing to disparities. Access to care factors such as primary care physician supply and hospital bed to population ratios, contribute to higher black mortality rates as the supply of these factors increase at the county level. This indicates that access to care is not mitigating the associated health effects of observed racism.

In relation to the working framework introduced in earlier chapters, the findings of this study indicate that when accounting for rurality or geographical differences, there is an association between mortality and observed racism. Observed racism on Twitter is a cumulative pathway to an individual's exposure to racism. One's frequency and intensity to exposure of racism on Twitter can influence poor health and mortality. The study determined that this relationship existed but only when accounting for geographic differences. Furthermore, causation of the relationship could not be explored due to limitations in the data. The study also addressed other socioeconomic pathways that influence exposure to racism including: income, education, employment, and access to healthcare. The study findings indicated that even when accounting for observed racism, the latter pathways remain significant indicators of mortality. Future research should examine these potential pathways further and their relationship with observed racism to


determine if socioeconomic differences between populations affect or influence the relationship between observed racism and mortality.

This study holds significant implications in the field of public health. Future research should be undertaken to understand the indicated relationship between observed racism and black mortality with respect to geographic influence. In order to eliminate black-white health disparities in mortality, public health efforts will need to address social determinants of health like education and subsequent employment and income as these are protective factors against increased levels of mortality at the county level.



www.manaraa.com

REFERENCES

- 1. Discrimination | Definition of Discrimination by Merriam-Webster. http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/discrimination. Accessed July 10, 2016.
- Rickford R. Black Lives Matter Toward a Modern Practice of Mass Struggle. New Labor Forum. 2016. http://nlf.sagepub.com/content/25/1/34.full. Accessed April 30, 2017.
- 3. North Dakota Pipeline Protesters Win a Battle but Lose the War. http://www.thedailybeast.com/articles/2016/11/11/north-dakota-pipelineprotesters-win-a-battle-but-lose-the-war.html. Accessed November 16, 2016.
- 4. Bullard R. The legacy of American apartheid and environmental racism. *John's J Leg Comment*. 1993. http://heinonline.org/hol-cgibin/get_pdf.cgi?handle=hein.journals/sjjlc9§ion=23. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- Brulle R, Pellow D. Environmental justice: human health and environmental inequalities. *Annu Rev Public Heal*. 2006. http://annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.27.021405.102124. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- Americans N. the Trauma of History. *Stud Nativ Am Probl.* 1998. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Bonnie_Duran2/publication/259106102_Dura n_Trauma_of_History/links/00463529ffe6e3c2be000000.pdf. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- Kolchin P. American Slavery: 1619-1877.; 2003. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=FaffAAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=P P3&dq=african+american+slavery&ots=Q9Pd_muhfd&sig=lAXF_DHTUMZOW haGxGFKvxxbMBE. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- Plous S, Williams T. Racial Stereotypes From the Days of American Slavery: A Continuing Legacy1. *J Appl Soc Psychol*. 1995. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1995.tb01776.x/full. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 9. Brandt A. Racism and research: the case of the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. *Hastings Cent Rep.* 1978. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.2307/3561468/full. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 10. Gotham K. Racialization and the state: the Housing Act of 1934 and the creation of the Federal Housing Administration. *Sociol Perspect*. 2000. http://spx.sagepub.com/content/43/2/291. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 11. Massey D, Condran G, Denton N. The effect of residential segregation on black social and economic well-being. *Soc Forces*. 1987.



http://sf.oxfordjournals.org/content/66/1/29.short. Accessed April 28, 2017.

- Jackson S, Anderson R, Johnson N. The relation of residential segregation to allcause mortality: a study in black and white. *Am J*. 2000. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1446199/. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 13. Sellers R, Caldwell C. Racial identity, racial discrimination, perceived stress, and psychological distress among African American young adults. *J Heal* 2003. http://www.jstor.org/stable/1519781. Accessed November 16, 2016.
- Ng D, Jeffery R. Relationships between perceived stress and health behaviors in a sample of working adults. *Heal Psychol*. 2003. http://psycnet.apa.org/journals/hea/22/6/638/. Accessed November 16, 2016.
- Richardson S, Shaffer JA, Falzon L, Krupka D, Davidson KW, Edmondson D. Meta-analysis of perceived stress and its association with incident coronary heart disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2012;110(12):1711-1716. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.08.004.
- Flores E, Tschann JM, Dimas JM, Bachen EA, Pasch LA, de Groat CL. Perceived Discrimination, Perceived Stress, and Mental and Physical Health Among Mexican-Origin Adults. *Hisp J Behav Sci*. 2008;30(4):401-424. doi:10.1177/0739986308323056.
- 17. Cooper DC, Mills PJ, Bardwell WA, Ziegler MG, Dimsdale JE. The effects of ethnic discrimination and socioeconomic status on endothelin-1 among blacks and whites. *Am J Hypertens*. 2009;22(7):698-704. doi:10.1038/ajh.2009.72.
- 18. Szanton SL, Rifkind JM, Mohanty JG, et al. Racial discrimination is associated with a measure of red blood cell oxidative stress: a potential pathway for racial health disparities. *Int J Behav Med.* 2012;19(4):489-495. doi:10.1007/s12529-011-9188-z.
- 19. Powell LR, Jesdale WM, Lemon SC. On Edge: the impact of race-related vigilance on obesity status in African-Americans. *Obes Sci Pract*. 2016;2(2):136-143. doi:10.1002/osp4.42.
- 20. James D. Internalized Racism and Past-Year Major Depressive Disorder Among African-Americans: the Role of Ethnic Identity and Self-Esteem. *J racial Ethn Heal disparities*. July 2016. doi:10.1007/s40615-016-0269-1.
- 21. Parker LJ, Hunte HER. Examining the relationship between the endorsement of racial/ethnic stereotypes and excess body fat composition in a national sample of African Americans and black Caribbeans. *Ethn Dis.* 2013;23(4):462-468. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24392609. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- Harrell JP, Hall S, Taliaferro J. Physiological responses to racism and discrimination: an assessment of the evidence. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(2):243-248. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1447724&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract. Accessed June 9, 2016.
- 23. Kwate NOA, Goodman MS. Cross-sectional and longitudinal effects of racism on



mental health among residents of Black neighborhoods in New York City. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(4):711-718. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302243.

- 24. Paradies Y, Ben J, Denson N, et al. Racism as a Determinant of Health: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(9):e0138511. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0138511.
- Purnell JQ, Peppone LJ, Alcaraz K, et al. Perceived discrimination, psychological distress, and current smoking status: results from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Reactions to Race module, 2004-2008. *Am J Public Health*. 2012;102(5):844-851. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300694.
- 26. Borrell LN, Diez Roux A V, Jacobs DR, et al. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination, smoking and alcohol consumption in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2010;51(3-4):307-312. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2010.05.017.
- 27. Twitter Hate Speech Map Pinpoints Racist, Homophobic Hotspots Across U.S. http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2013/05/13/twitter-hate-speech_n_3265916.html. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 28. Stephens-Davidowitz S. The cost of racial animus on a black candidate: Evidence using Google search data. *J Public Econ*. 2014;118:26-40. doi:10.1016/j.jpubeco.2014.04.010.
- 29. Fields BJ. Slavery, Race and Ideology in the United States of America. *New Left Rev.* 1990;(181):95-118.
- 30. Hartley D. Rural Health Disparities, Population Health, and Rural Culture. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(10):1675-1678. doi:10.2105/AJPH.94.10.1675.
- Morgan A. A national call to action: CDC's 2001 Urban and Rural Health Chartbook. *J Rural Health*. 2002;18(3):382-383. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12186311. Accessed July 15, 2016.
- 32. Eberhardt MS, Pamuk ER. The Importance of Place of Residence: Examining Health in Rural and Nonrural Areas. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(10):1682-1686. doi:10.2105/AJPH.94.10.1682.
- 33. Eberhardt M, Pamuk E. The importance of place of residence: examining health in rural and nonrural areas. *J Public Health (Bangkok)*. 2004. http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.94.10.1682. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- Auchincloss A, Hadden W. The health effects of rural-urban residence and concentrated poverty. *J Rural Heal*. 2002. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1748-0361.2002.tb00894.x/full. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 35. Gamm L, Stone S, Pittman S. Mental health and mental disorders—A rural challenge: A literature review. *Rural Heal people*. 2010. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Larry_Gamm/publication/255683562_Mental _health_and_mental_disorders_-_a_rural_challenge_a_literature_review/links/55c39e6b08aeb9756740192b.pdf.



Accessed November 16, 2016.

- 36. Rost K, Smith GR, Taylor JL. Rural-Urban Differences in Stigma and the Use of Care for Depressive Disorders. *J Rural Heal*. 1993;9(1):57-62. doi:10.1111/j.1748-0361.1993.tb00495.x.
- Probst JC, Laditka SB, Moore CG, Harun N, Powell MP, Baxley EG. Rural-urban differences in depression prevalence: implications for family medicine. *Fam Med.* 2006;38(9):653-660. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17009190. Accessed July 15, 2016.
- Human J, Wasem C. Rural mental health in America. *Am Psychol.* 1991;46(3):232-239. http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1991-19431-001. Accessed July 15, 2016.
- Lichter DT, Parisi D, Grice SM, Taquino MC. National Estimates of Racial Segregation in Rural and Small-Town America. *Demography*. 2007;44(3):563-581. doi:10.1353/dem.2007.0030.
- 40. Pulido L. Rethinking environmental racism: White privilege and urban development in Southern California. *Ann Assoc Am Geogr.* 2000. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/0004-5608.00182/abstract. Accessed December 3, 2016.
- 41. Cohen H, Northridge M. Getting political: racism and urban health. *Am J Public* 2008. http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/full/10.2105/AJPH.98.Supplement_1.S17. Accessed December 3, 2016.
- 42. Mak H, Johnston P, Abbey H, Talamo R. Prevalence of asthma and health service utilization of asthmatic children in an inner city. *J Allergy Clin* 1982. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0091674982900264. Accessed December 3, 2016.
- 43. Ertel KA, James-Todd T, Kleinman K, et al. Racial discrimination, response to unfair treatment, and depressive symptoms among pregnant black and African American women in the United States. *Ann Epidemiol.* 2012;22(12):840-846. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2012.10.001.
- Williams D. Race, socioeconomic status, and health the added effects of racism and discrimination. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 1999. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08114.x/full. Accessed December 4, 2016.
- 45. Chae DH, Clouston S, Hatzenbuehler ML, et al. Association between an Internet-Based Measure of Area Racism and Black Mortality. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(4):e0122963. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0122963.
- 46. Hatzenbuehler M, Bellatorre A, Lee Y, Finch B. Structural stigma and all-cause mortality in sexual minority populations. *Soc Sci.* 2014. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953613003353. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 47. Brondolo E, Rieppi R, Kelly KP, Gerin W. Perceived racism and blood pressure: a



review of the literature and conceptual and methodological critique. *Ann Behav Med.* 2003;25(1):55-65. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12581937. Accessed December 4, 2016.

- 48. Krieger N, Williams DR, Moss NE. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 1997;18:341-378. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.18.1.341.
- 49. Smith G. Income inequality and mortality: why are they related? *BMJ Br Med J*. 1996. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2350819/. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 50. floatingsheep: DOLLY. http://www.floatingsheep.org/p/dolly.html. Accessed December 6, 2016.
- 51. AHRF: Area Health Resource File. http://ahrf.hrsa.gov/overview.htm. Accessed December 6, 2016.
- 52. The production of social capital in US counties. *J Socio Econ.* 2006;35(1):83-101. doi:10.1016/J.SOCEC.2005.11.001.
- 53. Haney-Lopez I. Social Construction of Race: Some Observations on Illusion, Fabrication, and Choice, The. *Harvard Civ Rights-Civil Lib.* 1994. http://scholarship.law.berkeley.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2815&context=fac pubs. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 54. Omi M, Winant H. *Racial Formation in the United States*.; 2014. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=T7LcAwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg= PP1&dq=racial+formation+process&ots=k4DUCNwT0g&sig=fK0pb1ulbxZnN0QNJhKWSSSBPg. Accessed April 28, 2017.
- 55. Harrell S. A multidimensional conceptualization of racism-related stress: Implications for the well-being of people of color. *Am J Orthopsychiatry*. 2000. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1037/h0087722/abstract. Accessed December 4, 2016.
- 56. Schmitt MT, Branscombe NR. The Meaning and Consequences of Perceived Discrimination in Disadvantaged and Privileged Social Groups. *Eur Rev Soc Psychol.* 2002;12(1):167-199. doi:10.1080/14792772143000058.
- 57. Krieger N. Discrimination and Health. In: Berkman LF, Kawachi I, eds. Social Epidemiology. Vol Oxford University Press; 2000:416. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=i0qWxy5-X1gC&pgis=1. Accessed July 14, 2016.
- Jones CP. Levels of racism: a theoretic framework and a gardener's tale. Am J Public Health. 2000;90(8):1212-1215. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=1446334&tool=pmcen trez&rendertype=abstract. Accessed May 3, 2016.
- 59. Jones C. Confronting institutionalized racism. *Phylon (1960-)*. 2002. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4149999. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 60. Fleury-Steiner BD, Dunn K, Fleury-Steiner R. Governing through crime as



commonsense racism: Race, space, and death penalty `reform' in Delaware. *Punishm Soc.* 2009;11(1):5-24. doi:10.1177/1462474508098130.

- 61. Williams DR, Mohammed SA. Racism and Health I: Pathways and Scientific Evidence. *Am Behav Sci.* 2013;57(8). doi:10.1177/0002764213487340.
- 62. Bonilla-Silva E. Rethinking racism: Toward a structural interpretation. *Am Sociol Rev.* 1997. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2657316. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 63. Powell J. Structural Racism: Building upon the Insights of John Calmore. *North Carol Law Rev.* 2007. http://scholarship.law.berkeley.edu/facpubs/1637. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 64. Glitch Racism: Networks as Actors within Vernacular Internet Theory Culture Digitally. http://culturedigitally.org/2013/12/glitch-racism-networks-as-actors-within-vernacular-internet-theory/. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 65. Bartlett J, Reffin J, Rumball N, Williamson S. Anti-social media. *Demos.* 2014. http://cilvektiesibas.org.lv/site/record/docs/2014/03/19/DEMOS_Antisocial_Media.pdf. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 66. Clark R, Anderson NB, Clark VR, Williams DR. Racism as a stressor for African Americans: A biopsychosocial model.
- 67. Green TL, Darity WA, Jr. Under the skin: using theories from biology and the social sciences to explore the mechanisms behind the black-white health gap. *Am J Public Health*. 2010;(Suppl 1):S36-S40. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.171140.
- 68. Harrell CJP, Burford TI, Cage BN, et al. Multiple Pathways Linking Racism to Health Outcomes. *Du Bois Rev.* 2011;8(1):143-157. doi:10.1017/S1742058X11000178.
- 69. Thayer JF, Lane RD. The role of vagal function in the risk for cardiovascular disease and mortality. *Biol Psychol*. 2007;74(2):224-242. doi:10.1016/j.biopsycho.2005.11.013.
- 70. Brosschot JF, Gerin W, Thayer JF. The perseverative cognition hypothesis: a review of worry, prolonged stress-related physiological activation, and health. *J Psychosom Res.* 2006;60(2):113-124. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.06.074.
- Fredrickson BL. The role of positive emotions in positive psychology. The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions. *Am Psychol*. 2001;56(3):218-226. /pmc/articles/PMC3122271/?report=abstract. Accessed December 4, 2016.
- 72. Krieger N, Sidney S. Racial discrimination and blood pressure: the CARDIA Study of young black and white adults. *Am J Public Health*. 1996. http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.86.10.1370. Accessed August 1, 2016.
- 73. McEwen BS. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. *N Engl J Med*. 1998;338(3):171-179. doi:10.1056/NEJM199801153380307.
- 74. Beatty DL, Matthews KA. Unfair treatment and trait anger in relation to nighttime ambulatory blood pressure in African American and white adolescents. *Psychosom Med*. 2009;71(8):813-820. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181b3b6f8.



- 75. Krieger N, Kosheleva A, Waterman PD, Chen JT, Koenen K. Racial discrimination, psychological distress, and self-rated health among US-born and foreign-born Black Americans. *Am J Public Health*. 2011;101(9):1704-1713. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300168.
- 76. Cuevas AG, Reitzel LR, Cao Y, et al. Mediators of discrimination and self-rated health among African Americans. *Am J Health Behav*. 2013;37(6):745-754. doi:10.5993/AJHB.37.6.3.
- 77. Dinh KT, Holmberg MD, Ho IK, Haynes MC. The relationship of prejudicial attitudes to psychological, social, and physical well-being within a sample of college students in the United States. *J Cult Divers*. 2014;21(2):56-66. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25011208. Accessed July 7, 2016.
- 78. Hurd NM, Varner FA, Caldwell CH, Zimmerman MA. Does perceived racial discrimination predict changes in psychological distress and substance use over time? An examination among Black emerging adults. *Dev Psychol.* 2014;50(7):1910-1918. doi:10.1037/a0036438.
- 79. Todorova ILG, Falcón LM, Lincoln AK, Price LL. Perceived discrimination, psychological distress and health. *Sociol Health Illn*. 2010;32(6):843-861. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9566.2010.01257.x.
- 80. Tobler AL, Maldonado-Molina MM, Staras SAS, O'Mara RJ, Livingston MD, Komro KA. Perceived racial/ethnic discrimination, problem behaviors, and mental health among minority urban youth. *Ethn Health*. 2013;18(4):337-349. doi:10.1080/13557858.2012.730609.
- 81. Ziya Gizlice PDEMNPD. Relationships between health and perceived unequal treatment based on race: results from the 2002 North Carolina BRFSS Survey. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/summary?doi=10.1.1.177.3083. Accessed July 7, 2016.
- 82. Benjamins MR, Whitman S. Relationships between discrimination in health care and health care outcomes among four race/ethnic groups. *J Behav Med*. 2014;37(3):402-413. doi:10.1007/s10865-013-9496-7.
- 83. Brewer LC, Carson KA, Williams DR, Allen A, Jones CP, Cooper LA. Association of race consciousness with the patient-physician relationship, medication adherence, and blood pressure in urban primary care patients. *Am J Hypertens*. 2013;26(11):1346-1352. doi:10.1093/ajh/hpt116.
- 84. Crawford ND, Jones CP, Richardson LC. Understanding racial and ethnic disparities in colorectal cancer screening: Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2002 and 2004. *Ethn Dis.* 2010;20(4):359-365. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21305822. Accessed July 7, 2016.
- 85. Hausmann LRM, Jeong K, Bost JE, Ibrahim SA. Perceived discrimination in health care and use of preventive health services. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2008;23(10):1679-1684. doi:10.1007/s11606-008-0730-x.
- 86. Weller, K., Bruns, A., Burgess, J. E., Mahrt, M., & Puschmann C. *Twitter and Society: An Introduction*. Vol Vol. 89. Peter Lang; 2014.



- 87. Smith A, Brenner J. Twitter use 2012. *Pew Internet Am Life Proj.* 2012. http://dougleschan.com/the-recruitment-guru/wp-content/uploads/2014/01/Twitter-Use-2012-Pew-Internet-American-Life-Project.pdf. Accessed March 20, 2017.
- 88. Demographics of Key Social Networking Platforms | Pew Research Center. http://www.pewinternet.org/2015/01/09/demographics-of-key-social-networking-platforms-2/#twitter. Accessed August 20, 2017.
- 89. Demographics of Social Media Users in 2016 | Pew Research Center. http://www.pewinternet.org/2016/11/11/social-media-update-2016/. Accessed August 20, 2017.
- 90. Sloan L, Morgan J. Who Tweets with Their Location? Understanding the Relationship between Demographic Characteristics and the Use of Geoservices and Geotagging on Twitter. Preis T, ed. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(11):e0142209. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142209.
- 91. Wood-Doughty Z, Smith M, Broniatowski D, Dredze M. How Does Twitter User Behavior Vary Across Demographic Groups? ACL 2017. 2017. http://www.aclweb.org/anthology/W17-29#page=95. Accessed August 20, 2017.
- 92. Twitter's racism epidemic: 6.7 MILLION slurs in just two weeks as horrifying avalanche of online abuse is revealed Mirror Online. http://www.mirror.co.uk/news/technology-science/technology/twitters-racism-epidemic-67-million-6461583. Accessed March 20, 2017.
- 93. Olteanu A, Weber I, Gatica-Perez D. Characterizing the Demographics Behind the #BlackLivesMatter Movement. December 2015. http://arxiv.org/abs/1512.05671. Accessed March 20, 2017.
- 94. McKinney J, Bourque L. The changing South: national incorporation of a region. *Am Sociol Rev.* 1971. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2093081. Accessed April 29, 2017.
- 95. Holt J. The topography of poverty in the United States: a spatial analysis using county-level data from the Community Health Status Indicators project. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2007. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2099276/. Accessed April 29, 2017.
- 96. Murray C, Kulkarni S, Ezzati M. Eight Americas: new perspectives on US health disparities. *Am J Prev Med*. 2005. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749379705002898. Accessed April 29, 2017.
- 97. Hotez P. Neglected infections of poverty in the United States of America. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*. 2008. http://journals.plos.org/plosntds/article?id=10.1371/journal.pntd.0000256. Accessed April 29, 2017.
- 98. Poorthuis, A. Zook M. Making Big Data Small: Strategies to Expand Urban and Geographical Research Using Social Media. Lexington; 2017.
- 99. Levenshtein V. Binary codes capable of correcting deletions, insertions, and reversals. *Sov Phys Dokl.* 1966.



https://nymity.ch/sybilhunting/pdf/Levenshtein1966a.pdf. Accessed March 24, 2017.

- Stambler H V. The Area Resource File--a brief look. *Public Health Rep.* 1988;103(2):184-188. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3128836. Accessed March 24, 2017.
- 101. Friede A, Reid JA, Ory HW. CDC WONDER: a comprehensive on-line public health information system of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Am J Public Health*. 1993;83(9):1289-1294. doi:10.2105/AJPH.83.9.1289.
- 102. Remington P, Catlin B. The county health rankings: rationale and methods. *Heal metrics*. 2015.
 https://pophealthmetrics.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12963-015-0044-2. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 103. Silva L, Mondal M, Correa D, Benevenuto F. Analyzing the targets of hate in online social media. *arXiv Prepr arXiv*. 2016. https://arxiv.org/abs/1603.07709. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 104. Davidson T, Warmsley D, Macy M, Weber I. Automated Hate Speech Detection and the Problem of Offensive Language. arXiv Prepr arXiv. 2017. https://arxiv.org/abs/1703.04009. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 105. Kwok I, Wang Y. Locate the Hate: Detecting Tweets against Blacks. AAAI. 2013. https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/db55/11e90b2f4d650067ebf934294617eff81eca.p df. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 106. USDA ERS Rural-Urban Continuum Codes. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-continuum-codes/. Accessed March 24, 2017.
- Meara ER, Richards S, Cutler DM. The gap gets bigger: changes in mortality and life expectancy, by education, 1981-2000. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2008;27(2):350-360. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.27.2.350.
- 108. Kaplan GA, Pamuk ER, Lynch JW, Cohen RD, Balfour JL. Inequality in income and mortality in the United States: analysis of mortality and potential pathways. *BMJ*. 1996;312(7037). http://www.bmj.com/content/312/7037/999. Accessed April 5, 2017.
- 109. Sterling T, Rosenbaum W, Weinkam J. Income, race, and mortality. *J Natl Med Assoc*. 1993;85(12):906-911. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/8126740. Accessed April 5, 2017.
- 110. Singh GK, Siahpush M. Inequalities in US Life Expectancy by Area Unemployment Level, 1990–2010. *Scientifica (Cairo)*. 2016;2016:1-12. doi:10.1155/2016/8290435.
- Wilper AP, Woolhandler S, Lasser KE, McCormick D, Bor DH, Himmelstein DU. Health insurance and mortality in US adults. *Am J Public Health*. 2009;99(12):2289-2295. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2008.157685.
- 112. Kawachi I, Kennedy B, Lochner K. Social capital, income inequality, and mortality. *J public* 1997.



http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.87.9.1491. Accessed May 1, 2017.

- 113. Kawachi I, Kennedy B. The relationship of income inequality to mortality: does the choice of indicator matter? *Soc Sci Med*. 1997. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953697000440. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 114. Shi L, Starfield B. The effect of primary care physician supply and income inequality on mortality among blacks and whites in US metropolitan areas. *Am J Public Health*. 2001. http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.91.8.1246. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 115. Yamashita T, Kunkel S. The association between heart disease mortality and geographic access to hospitals: county level comparisons in Ohio, USA. Soc Sci Med. 2010. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0277953610000493. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- Bindman A, Keane D, Lurie N. A public hospital closes: impact on patients' access to care and health status. *Jama*. 1990. http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=384261. Accessed May 1, 2017.
- 117. Williams DR, Mohammed SA. Discrimination and racial disparities in health: evidence and needed research. *J Behav Med.* 2009;32(1):20-47. doi:10.1007/s10865-008-9185-0.
- 118. Cutler D, Glaeser E. Are ghettos good or bad? Q J Econ. 1997. https://academic.oup.com/qje/article-abstract/112/3/827/1926910. Accessed September 15, 2017.
- Collins W, Margo R. Residential segregation and socioeconomic outcomes: When did ghettos go bad? *Econ Lett*. 2000. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165176500003001. Accessed September 15, 2017.
- 120. Ahmed AT, Mohammed SA, Williams DR. Racial discrimination & health: pathways & evidence. *Indian J Med Res.* 2007;126(4):318-327. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18032807. Accessed July 7, 2016.
- 121. Uphoff EP, Pickett KE, Cabieses B, Small N, Wright J. A systematic review of the relationships between social capital and socioeconomic inequalities in health: a contribution to understanding the psychosocial pathway of health inequalities. *Int J Equity Health*. 2013;12:54. doi:10.1186/1475-9276-12-54.
- 122. Wodtke GT, C. LK, Michael H, Jibum K, J. DI. Are Smart People Less Racist? Verbal Ability, Anti-Black Prejudice, and the Principle-Policy Paradox. Soc Probl. 2016;63(1):21-45. doi:10.1093/socpro/spv028.
- 123. The black-white and urban-rural divides in perceptions of racial fairness | Pew Research Center. http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2013/08/28/the-black-white-and-urban-rural-divides-in-perceptions-of-racial-fairness/. Accessed July 23,



2017.

- 124. New poll of rural Americans shows deep cultural divide with urban residents -Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost.com/graphics/2017/national/ruralamerica/?utm_term=.ef91a32f79ea. Accessed July 23, 2017.
- 125. Probst JC, Bellinger JD, Walsemann KM, Hardin J, Glover SH. Higher risk of death in rural blacks and whites than urbanites is related to lower incomes, education, and health coverage. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2011;30(10):1872-1879. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.0668.
- 126. Singh GK, Siahpush M. Widening rural-urban disparities in all-cause mortality and mortality from major causes of death in the USA, 1969-2009. *J Urban Health*. 2014;91(2):272-292. doi:10.1007/s11524-013-9847-2.
- 127. James W, Cossman JS. Long-Term Trends in Black and White Mortality in the Rural United States: Evidence of a Race-Specific Rural Mortality Penalty. *J Rural Heal*. 2017;33(1):21-31. doi:10.1111/jrh.12181.
- 128. Yang T. Exploring the rural paradox: A spatial investigation of rurality and mortality. 2008. https://etda.libraries.psu.edu/catalog/8384. Accessed June 22, 2017.
- 129. Lynch JW, Kaplan GA, Pamuk ER, et al. Income inequality and mortality in metropolitan areas of the United States. *Am J Public Health*. 1998;88(7):1074-1080. doi:10.2105/AJPH.88.7.1074.
- Muller A. Education, income inequality, and mortality: a multiple regression analysis. *BMJ*. 2002;324(7328). http://www.bmj.com/content/324/7328/23?linkType=FULL&ck=nck&resid=324/7 328/23&journalCode=bmj. Accessed June 22, 2017.
- 131. Fisher E, Wennberg J, Stukel T. Associations among hospital capacity, utilization, and mortality of US Medicare beneficiaries, controlling for sociodemographic factors. *Heal Serv.* 2000. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1089085/. Accessed July 5, 2017.

